

A DECADE OF DISCOVERY

TRANSLATIONAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE



Table of Contents

- 3 A Decade Of Discovery
- 6 A Letter From Our Chief Scientific Officer
- 8 Origins of TRI | TRI Today
- 9 Origins Timeline
- 10 Mission, Vision, Values
- 11 Data Tells the Story
- 12 A Letter From Our Scientific Director
- 13 Scientific Advisory Board
- 14 TRI Faculty
- 28 Spotlight Studies
- 33 10 Year Team Members
- 36 Faculty Academic Collaborations In The US
- 38 Influential Leadership
- 40 AdventHealth Research Institute Leadership
- 42 The TRI Cores
- 48 Publications
- 59 AdventHealth Foundation Impact & In Memoriam



"TRI is definitely different; it has distinct advantages. Everything we need to do our science is in the building, and everybody in the building has their own unique expertise on metabolism. It makes us highly synergistic and collaborative."

Karen Corbin, PhD, RD Investigator

"The backbone of the TRI is truly the unique team that we have here and their unrelenting drive to perform the best research in the world."

Josh Smith Research Laboratory Senior Manager















A Letter From Our Chief Scientific Officer

It is difficult to believe that a decade has elapsed since the Translational Research Institute opened.

Laying the foundation was a bold move; one that is now paying off.

A Decade of Discovery and more.

First, let me provide you with some context and most importantly introduce you to the laying of the foundations of the TRI. I do this so you can put the future of translational research at AdventHealth in context.

As we look back, the TRI was the result of several converging forces. The Burnham Institute, Orange County, the City of Orlando, and the Tavistock group, along with the state of Florida under the leadership Governor Jeb Bush, joined forces in an attempt to diversify the Orlando economy. Each party made significant financial commitments to grow biomedical research in Orlando.

Florida Hospital's contribution, under the visionary leadership of Lars Houmann, was an investment in the formation of the Translational Research Institute. This included, but was not limited to, a state-of-the art translational research building, the recruitment of a founding scientific director and significant operational / financial support for the recruitment of scientists and staff. In addition, as a means to ensure the protection of our patients, Florida Hospital upgraded and modernized the hospital research administrative infrastructure. The Translational Research Institute is the sole surviving founding entity that made the original 2008 investments. As you will read in these pages the TRI continues as an example of how clinical and translational research can flourish in a large quaternary hospital.

This report will highlight those accomplishments and provide a peek into research questions that the TRI faculty are trying to solve now ... and into the future.

But there is much more to be said if we ask the right questions. For example, some may ask "why would a hospital invest in translational research?"

First and foremost the TRI is all about improving the health of the communities we serve. In 2008 the leadership of Florida Hospital believed that we have an obligation to learn from our patients. If we don't learn from our patients we will not have the knowledge or the talent to tackle the new diseases of the 21st century. The Institute of Medicine defines a "learning healthcare system" and this should be an organizational imperative. Translational research is one of many key components of that ecosystem. In this lofty goal we have only just begun.

As an offshoot of the TRI, and important to the other service lines and institutes at AdventHealth; the TRI established - for the first time - the research infrastructure needed to compete at a national level. At the inception of the TRI, National Institutes of Health funding at Florida Hospital was non-existent. Now, we routinely compete, and succeed, in securing these prestigious grants.

The impact of the TRI extends beyond Florida Hospital / AdventHealth. TRI now receives more NIH translational research dollars than any other academic institution in Orlando.

NIH funding, along with our publications in top tier journals, provides unimpeachable evidence of research excellence. The NIH system typically funds only one in ten applications from the largest academic medical centers and universities across the U.S.

More importantly, NIH awards are key performance indicators of how our research impacts how we think about a clinical problem. Without this evolution in knowledge, healthcare would become static and advancements would be slow. The TRI now plays an important instrument in the symphony of clinical and translational research across the US. The US is acknowledged as the epicenter of biomedical research across the globe. With collaborations across the US and Europe, the TRI is known as a center of excellence in our three focus areas.

One could argue that this kind of research is the responsibility of universities and traditional academic medical centers. If one thinks back to the original 'why' I spoke about, then the answer to this question becomes obvious. TRI research touches the lives of the communities we serve. The TRI was the first drop in an ocean of disease. A drop that sends ripples across AdventHealth, our city and beyond. We inspire others to believe that high quality translational research is not only possible at AdventHealth but necessary to solve some of the most pressing needs in healthcare today.

Under the leadership of Dr. Goodpaster, the TRI is moving beyond the original focus on obesity and diabetes. Our scientists now study a key future healthcare problem - aging and aging associated diseases. We collaborate with clinicians and scientists in disciplines as diverse as cancer, cardiovascular disease and even study in space how the microgravity of spaceflight alters muscle function. The TRI was the first step in the development of a new translational research institute that now is addressing the upcoming healthcare crisis of Alzheimer's disease. Our scientists work to understand how our diet remodels the human gut microbiome to increase or decrease a multiplicity of diseases. These are only a few of the examples you will read about in these pages.

I am continually inspired by the creativity and rigor of TRI research and hope you are too.

Where will we go next? I strongly believe that translational and clinical research are critical to recruit the best and brightest physicians to AdventHealth. An overarching goal is to create a healthcare system that continuously asks hard questions and answers them with state-of-the-art technologies, creative and bold hypotheses and then disseminates the knowledge and wisdom across the globe.

The *TRI has given AdventHealth permission to believe* that we can conduct world-class research with integrity, efficiency, and impact. The next chapter in this book will require foresight and vision equal to or greater than what existed at our inception.

We hope you will join us celebrating a Decade of Discovery and more importantly will see the future need and our key role in crafting that future. Our quest to solve the hardest medical problems is just beginning and we are off to a great start!

So what comes next? That is really up to you. Our future is not assured. These are challenging times and challenging times call for bold and creative thinking. Thinking that stretches the imagination and tests our commitments. Where will we go? Let's craft that vision together.

Thank you so much and enjoy this glimpse into the past... and the future of healthcare.

Steven R. Smith, MD Senior Vice President and CSO, AdventHealth



Origins of Translational Research Institute

In 2008, then CEO of Florida Hospital, Don Jernigan, alongside Lars Houmann, CEO of the Central Florida Division, began meeting to discuss the future of the health care organization (later rebranded AdventHealth). Their goal was to redefine the current community hospital mindset in order to become a global pace setter, improve the patient care model, advance academic standing and bolster economic development in Central Florida.

At the same time, the Sanford Burnham Institute, based in La Jolla, California, pledged to build a second research facility in Lake Nona, near Orlando. Their president, John Reid, had plans to change the existing medical structure by bringing research to the region. With Florida Hospital looking to construct their first research-focused facility, Reid and Houmann saw the perfect opportunity to align their organizations through a partnership that would allow each to realize their goals.

Innovation took front and center, with the question of which clinical research area Florida Hospital would pursue first. Guided by the CREATION Life principles of Whole Person Care, upon which Florida Hospital was founded, the areas of Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism were selected. The organization appointed Steven R. Smith, MD, a world-renowned research leader in this field of science, to take charge in transforming a small research footprint into an academic medical center. Four years later, in March 2012, the Translational Research Institute (TRI) opened its doors, aiming to achieve each of Florida Hospital's organizational goals – and so much more.

Origins Timeline



TRI Today

The Institute bridges the gap between the research bench and the patient's bedside. The researchers bring medical discoveries from the laboratory to the community for further testing through clinical trials, in an effort to tackle some of today's biggest health care concerns.

Hired Steven R. Smith, MD

First NIH grant funded

Scientific Advisory Board formed with Bob Eckel, MD as Chair "Being able to be part of a research institute from the ground up has been very rewarding. One's opinions and ideas are heard and respected making TRI an agile and cutting-edge research institute."

– Rebecca Z. Essner, PhD Senior Research Scientist, Genomics Senior

Fast Facts

54,000 SQUARE-FOOT LEED GOLD CERTIFIED FACILITY

TWO 27,000-LITER WHOLE ROOM CALORIMETERS

TWO FLEX CALORIMETER CHAMBERS FOR SHORT-TERM OBSERVATION AND TESTING

11-ROOM OVERNIGHT CRU

IMAGING INCLUDING DEXA, 3T MRI, AND FIBROSCAN

DEDICATED RESEARCH KITCHEN

BIOREPOSITORY WITH OVER 7,000 SQUARE FOOT WET LAB

GYM FOR INTERVENTIONAL EXERCISE STUDIES



Data Tells the Story

2012-2021











Mission

To extend and improve the quality of lives through innovative translational research that leads to discoveries, and ultimately treatments and cures, for metabolic diseases such as obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular disease.

Vision

With diligent respect to the mission and values, the AdventHealth Translational Research Institute develops and conducts world-class translational research addressing diabetes, obesity, the metabolic origins of cardiovascular disease and aging.

Values

- Scientific Achievement: Development of predictive biomarkers, mechanisms and phenotypes to translate into clinical medicine and revolutionize health care delivery.
- Collaboration: Across disciplines of science, health care, academics and business to create a translational research platform that positively impacts medicine and society.
- Integrity: In all aspects of our work and business.
- Ethical Treatment: For persons and society, which guide our applications of all research.
- National and International Recognition: To broaden reach and identity of AdventHealth.
- Education: Of physicians, scientists, health care providers, industry and society is an imperative to our mission.

• Industry Trials • Grants-Based Trials • Investigator Initiated Trials







A Letter From Our **Scientific Director**

As I reflect upon the past 10 years of the TRI, I am struck by how Dr. Smith's clear vision has allowed us to accomplish so much in such a short period of time and has paved the way for us to do so much more. We have been steadfast in working to achieve our goal to translate scientific discoveries into clinical care and prevention of some of our most common complex diseases and conditions.

When Lassumed the role of Scientific Director of the TRI in January of 2020, we strategically removed 'Metabolism and Diabetes' from our name to become, perhaps more simply in name, the Translational Research Institute. While we will continue to develop as a world-class clinicaltranslational research institute focused on Diabetes, Obesity, Aging and Exercise, 'Metabolism' is so much more. We are also excited to make significant contributions in Neuroscience, Orthopedics and Cancer. As we continue to develop and grow, the TRI has helped to provide AdventHealth the vision and conviction to be a leader in innovative research of metabolism in these other important areas of human health and disease.

The TRI is now comprised of 11 faculty, 7 Research Scientists, and 10 post-doctoral fellows. We are on track to earn \$7 million in revenue this year. Our NIH grants now represent most of our research revenue.

The TRI continues to build upon its reputation for conducting cutting-edge proof-of-concept and proof-of-mechanism research studies aimed at understanding the molecular underpinnings of Metabolic Disease. As we enter our second decade, the future of the TRI looks bright. We will explore Precision Medicine treatments for obesity and diabetes, provide a deeper understanding of why and how exercise improves health, and discover why aging is more than just a number.

Sincerely,

Beet Coopaster

Bret Goodpaster, PhD Scientific Director/ Senior Investigator

Scientific Advisory Board

Current SAB Members

David D'Alessio, MD Allison B. Goldfine, MD Juleen R. Zierath, PhD Stephen B. Kritchevsky, PhD Martin Walsh, PhD Michael R. Rickels, MD, MS

Past SAB Members

David E. Kelley, MD Andrea Dunaif, MD Robert Eckel, MD Robert Henry, MD Thomas Hughes, PhD Samuel Klein, MD Ronald Krauss, MD Robert Sherwin, MD

horizons, and solidify a national reputation."

- David D'Alessio, M.D. Chief, Division of Endocrinology, Metabolism and Nutrition Duke University Medical Center



Top: Ron Krauss and Rob Deininger | Bottom: Sam Klien, Andrea Dunalf, Steven R. Smith, Bob Eckel, Dan Kelly, and David Kendall (L) Sam Klein, Andrea Dunaif, Ron Krauss

Duke Medical Center Novartis Institutes for BioMedical Research Karolinska Institute Wake Forest University

- Mount Sinai School of Medicine
- University of Pennsylvania
- Merck Research Laboratories
- Northwestern University & MSSM
- University of Colorado, Denver
- University of California, San Diego Zafgen, Inc
- Washington University, St. Louis
- Children's Hospital Oakland Research Institute
- Yale University

"The continued evolution of the TRI has been positive and the institute is now in position to execute on important research initiatives, expand its intellectual

TRI Faculty

"It takes a team working in concert to successfully conduct larger clinical trials and studies that include biospecimen collection and participant phenotyping. It makes science more fun, and it is next to impossible to blaze that trail by yourself."

– Paul M. Coen, PhD



Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer, AdventHealth Joined: August 2009

Steven R. Smith, MD is a translational researcher, specializing in endocrinology and metabolism, who leads AdventHealth's research vision by serving as the Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer.

Dr. Smith is an established scientist who joined the organization during the conceptual phase of the TRI in 2009. He served as the founding Scientific Director handing that position to Dr. Goodpaster two years ago. During his career, he has contributed over 250 research publications; his science bridges the gap between cell/molecular biology and clinical care also called translational science.

Dr. Smith's research is focused on obesity, the metabolic origins of disease. He contributed to our understanding how individuals differ in their ability to adapt to diets high in fat, and how obesity leads to type 2 diabetes. Using the translational medicine approach, Dr. Smith discovered that many obese people have an inability to burn fat and discovered a new hormonal control system to increase fat and energy metabolism. Most importantly, the discovery that the inability to burn fat is programmed into muscle cells provides a novel way to identify and test new treatments for obesity and diabetes.

In a project started over a decade ago and recently funded by the NIH, Dr. Smith has been pushing the scientific envelope to understand why and how

Key Publication:

Fat Distribution in Women Is Associated with Depot-Specific Transcriptomic Signatures and Chromatin Structure

Featured in: *Journal of the Endocrine Society*

Reference: Divoux A, Sandor K, Bojcsuk D, Yi FC, Hopf ME, Smith JS, Balint BL, Osborne TF, **Smith SR**. Fat Distribution in Women Is Associated with Depot-Specific Transcriptomic Signatures and Chromatin Structure. Journal of the Endocrine Society. 2020. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvaa042.

people store adipose tissue in different places on their body (i.e. pear-shaped, apple-shaped, etc.). Given that an apple shape increases risk for diabetes, cardiovascular disease and other diseases, his fundamental science on the hormonal and epigenetic control of adipose tissue is revealing new insights into how adipose tissue develops and grows. Ultimately, he hopes to discover new ways to control where fat is stored to treat and prevent metabolic diseases.

In another NIH-funded study, he focused on further understanding how diet changes the gut microbiome. Many diseases have been linked to dysbiosis of the gut microbiome. "*This work is important because we have known for years that obesity and the microbiome are linked yet we don't really know how and why. Our work, powered by the people and enabled by technologies at the TRI allowed us to solve this mystery.*"

As Dr. Smith celebrates 10 years of the TRI's growth and success, he does not lose sight of what makes the Institute stand out. *"It's not just* about the building and the technology. It's really about the bright, dedicated people we've recruited from all over the world. We share ideas, methods and challenge each other to drive the science forward. We're very excited about the team and the progress of the last decade."

h

In this paper, we report that the preferential accumulation of fat in the upper body (apple shape) is associated with changes in DNA structure supporting our global hypothesis that the epigenome is partly responsible for the development of metabolic diseases, such as type 2 diabetes.

Anna Casu, MD

Associate Investigator von Weller Family Chair in Type 1 Diabetes Research Joined: September 2018

Anna Casu, MD is a physician endocrinologist and researcher who studies advanced therapies for type 1 diabetes and their metabolic implications. Her research also includes exploring the relationship between the exocrine and the endocrine pancreas, which influences type 1 diabetes.

Hailing from Sardinia, Italy, home to one of the highest incidence rates of type 1 diabetes, Dr. Casu originally wanted to become a neurologist before discovering her passion for diabetes research. It was more than just an intellectual connection with her research field of choice, as she herself was diagnosed with type 1 diabetes herself at age six.

Dr. Casu joined the TRI team with an extensive back-ground in transplant and endocrinology work through organizations, like the University of Pittsburgh and the University of Cagliari. She was intrigued by the TRI's clinical research approach and how it creates an atmosphere of robust collaboration for scientific inquiry.

Since most type 1 diabetes research focuses on basic science, she believes the patient integration aspect is important to her work. Collaboration across TRI's rich knowledge base of investigators has only encouraged growth and provided "tools" to further her understanding and impact as a scientist and endocrinologist.

One of her most engaging studies at the TRI involves work on pancreases from organ donors aiming at understanding how the many different types of cells in the pancreas act when diabetes develops. The interaction of these cells could explain why some people develop type 1 diabetes later than others. While findings are still being gathered, the results could ultimately impact the prevention of diabetes, and lead to possible cures.

Endowed with the first ever von Weller Family Chair in Type 1 Diabetes Research, created to attract and fund groundbreaking diabetes researchers, Dr. Casu plans to use her studies to gain a better understanding of how the pancreas microenvironment drives pancreatic islet function and resilience to external insults. This can be done through methods her laboratory is developing on ex vivo pancreas perfusion and imaging, along with cell-to-cell interaction in cell co-cultures. The result of these efforts could provide applications for delayed evolution of type 1 diabetes in older adults, after acute pancreatitis or pancreatic cancer.

Paul M. Coen, PhD

Associate Investigator Joined: September 2013

Paul Coen, PhD is a clinical translational investigator who brought his expertise in mitochondrial energetics within aging and obesity to the Translational Research Institute's portfolio. His work is also integral to collaborations on some of TRI's largest projects, including MoTrPAC and SOMMA.

Originally from Dublin, Ireland, Dr. Coen jumped "across the pond" to earn a PhD in Exercise Physiology at Purdue University in 2008. He then completed a post-doctoral fellowship in Metabolism at the University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine before joining his colleague and mentor, Bret Goodpaster, PhD at the TRI in 2013. He viewed the move to Orlando, working with the unique research team, as "a once in a lifetime career opportunity" to conduct his NIH career development award and to continue his professional development.

Dr. Coen was awarded his first R01 from the NIH as a principal investigator in 2018 and was promoted to Associate Investigator one year later. He points towards the TRI's commitment to teambased science as a key factor in the organization's success. The collaborative-based environment unifies researchers to be creative and, together, conduct more impactful scientific research.

Key Publication:

Characteristics of adult-compared to childhood-onset type 1 diabetes

Featured in: Diabetic Medicine

Reference: **Casu A**, Kanapka LG, Foster NC, Hirsch IB, Laffel LM, Shah VN, DeSalvo DJ, Lyons SK, Vendrame F, Aleppo G, Mastrandrea LD, Pratley RE, Rickels MR, Peters AL. Characteristics of adult- compared to childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. Diabetic Medicine. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dme.14314. Type 1 diabetes diagnosed in adulthood has similar clinical characteristics, diabetes management, acute complications and suboptimal glycemic control as that diagnosed in childhood, but it is often mistreated as type 2 diabetes at onset and has a lower use of insulin pumps.

Key Publication:

Skeletal muscle transcriptome response to a bout of endurance exercise in physically active and sedentary older adults

Featured in: American Journal of Physiology, Endocrinology and Metabolism

Reference: Aliza B Rubenstein, J Matthew Hinkley, Venugopalan D Nair, German Nudelman, Robert A Standley, Fanchao Yi, GongXin Yu, Todd A Trappe, Marcas M Bamman, Scott W Trappe, Lauren M Sparks, Bret H Goodpaster, Rick B Vega, Stuart C Sealfon, Elena Zaslavsky, **Coen PM**. Skeletal muscle transcriptome response to a bout of endurance exercise in physically active and sedentary older adults. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2022. doi: 10.1152/AJPENDO.00378.2021.

- This is exemplified through his contributions to the SOMMA study, in which he works closely with Dr.
 Bret Goodpaster and Dr. Lauren Sparks. Dr. Coen provides scientific and technical oversight for muscle tissue collection at the clinical sites, including the successful execution of mitochondrial assays in biopsy specimens of nearly 800 participants.
 - In his independent work, he is currently leading the REST study, investigating the molecular and biochemical underpinnings of human skeletal muscle atrophy and exercise-supported recovery in older adults with type 2 diabetes. Understanding the relationship and factors between diabetes and muscle atrophy could make a profound impact in minimizing a public health problem for older adults.
 - Dr. Coen believes there is a lot more to discover in this area and hopes to gain more attention and funding to support the ground-breaking research and innovation conducted at the TRI. His goal is to continue contributing to the TRI's success and to advance its scientific mission to extend and improve lives through discoveries and cures for common diseases, like obesity, diabetes and cardiovascular disease.

This study found that muscle transcript signatures associated with oxidative capacity and immune cells underlie important phenotypic and clinical characteristics of older adults who are endurance trained or sedentary. Despite divergent phenotypes, the temporal transcriptional signatures in response to an acute bout of endurance exercise were largely similar among groups. This data provides new insights into the transcriptional programs of aging muscle and the beneficial effects of endurance exercise to promote healthy aging in older adults.

Karen Corbin, PhD, RD

Investigator Joined: February 2015

Karen Corbin, PhD, RD is a registered dietitian and scientist who studies human nutrition, metabolism and the gut microbiome. After five years of clinical work in nutrition, she learned about the scientific field on a molecular level, earning a master's and PhD in Molecular Medicine at University of South Florida. After her post-doctoral fellowship and Research Assistant Professorship at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, she discovered an interest in studying the molecular mechanisms driving the initiation and progression of diseases, such as fatty liver, obesity and diabetes.

Reflecting on her first impressions of the TRI during the interview process, Dr. Corbin cites Dr. Steven R. Smith's vision, the institute's advanced capabilities in human metabolism and the "promise of making AdventHealth a living laboratory where we would capitalize on clinical data" as some of the most intriguing factors.

During her time at the TRI, she has been engaged in more than 25 clinical trials, and has risen from the role of Clinical Research Scientist to Investigator. Most notably, she is working as a co-investigator, in conjunction with Dr. Smith, on a study designed to understand the gut microbiome's quantitative impact on energy utilization by the human host, specifically as it relates to colon bacteria known to influence several aspects of heath. This could ultimately expand on previous work that has not accounted for the gut microbiome's unique impact on calorie absorption, ultimately redefining our understanding of nutrition.

In the future, Dr. Corbin looks to successfully complete a study in collaboration with Dr. Torfay Roman from the AdventHealth Fatty Liver Disease Clinic and Transplant Institute and Dr. Benoit Chassaing from Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM) in Paris, France. The study will examine how the encroachment of the microbiome into the gut lining impacts liver disease. This mechanism, if proven to be important for liver disease, could pave the way for new therapies.

Dr. Corbin's ultimate goal is to contribute to discoveries that will have an impact on clinical care, including scientific communication outside of the lab, which could lead to more efficient discovery and innovation.

"If we are to be good stewards of the amazing intellectual capital that we have here," Dr. Corbin, stated, "we must do everything we can to learn from the data and the samples that we collect, not just in research buildings but in clinical buildings every single day."

James P. DeLany, PhD

Senior Investigator Joined: February 2018

James DeLany, PhD is a NIH-funded scientist with more than two decades of human obesity and diabetes research. Before arriving at the TRI, Dr. Delany served at Pennington Biomedical Center as an independent researcher and later, the Director of the Stable Isotope Laboratory. After 16 years with the Institute, he became a research associate with University of Pittsburgh – meeting both Dr. Steven R. Smith and Bret Goodpaster along the way. After being invited to join the TRI, Dr. DeLany realized the Orlando-based research center, to which his colleagues had migrated, offered a "vibrant environment" that would allow him to do more with his science.

Dr. DeLany has since brought the challenging "Dynamic PET Imaging" technique to the TRI. This technique provides a well-rounded picture of all phases and aspects of glucose uptake and has benefitted several studies within the TRI. This includes the MatPET study, examining the glucose uptake and the contribution of muscle and adipose tissue in African American women.

Strong preliminary data from this research shows that mitochondrial genetics may play a stronger role in these racial differences than nuclear

Key Publication:

Integrative and quantitative bioenergetics: Design of a study to assess the impact of the gut microbiome on host energy balance

Featured in: Contemporary Clinical Trials Communication

Reference: **Corbin KD**, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Carnero EA, Bock C, Emerson R, Rittmann BE, Marcus AK, Davis T, Dirks B, Ilhan ZE, Champagne C, Smith SR. Integrative and quantitative bioenergetics: Design of a study to assess the impact of the gut microbiome on host energy balance. Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.conctc.2020.100646. This publication describes the design of a study that used two diets as tools to reprogram the gut microbiota to quantify how gut microbial ecology, bioenergetics and metabolites influence host energy balance and ultimately body weight.

Key Publication:

Weight loss and exercise differentially affect insulin sensitivity, body composition, cardiorespiratory fitness and muscle strength in older adults with obesity; a randomized controlled trial

Featured in: American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism

Reference: Brennan AM, Standley, RA, Anthony SJ, Grench KE, Helbling NL, **DeLany JP**, Cornnell HH, Yi FC, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, Coen PM, Carnero EA, Goodpaster BH. Weight

genetic ancestry. This joins his extensive past racial disparity research conducted at Pennington Biomedical Center to produce intervention methods, based on findings of lower mitochondrial function in African American women associated with lower insulin sensitivity.

Many aspects of DeLany's research involves extensive collaboration with others inside and outside of the TRI. In another NIH-funded project, partnered with Dr. Steven McGarvey of Brown University, Dr. Delany is employing doubly labeled water, indirect calorimetry, activity monitors and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry to examine energy balance and expenditure in Samoans after the recent identification of the CREBRF missense variant they possess, which is associated with increased obesity.

In the future, he looks to continue expanding his line of research through further progress in his racial disparity studies, considering not only glucose uptake in African American women, but also Hispanic women. He also looks to collaborate in multiple ancillary studies, including one for both the MoTrPAC and SOMMA studies.

Loss and Exercise Differentially Affect Insulin Sensitivity, Body Composition, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Muscle Strength in Older Adults With Obesity: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2021. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glab240.

This randomized control trial demonstrated that the addition of exercise to a weight loss intervention elicits important benefits for older obese at-risk adults, many of which are not observed with calorie restriction induced weight loss alone.

Melissa Erickson, PhD

Investigator Joined: July 2021

Melissa Erickson, PhD is an up-and-coming researcher developing transdisciplinary studies that bridge the fields of exercise physiology, metabolic pathophysiology and chronobiology. With a PhD in Exercise Physiology from the University of Georgia and post-doctoral training at Cleveland Clinic and Pennington Biomedical Center that focused on obesity and metabolic disease, she is eager to use her knowledge as the Translational Research Institute's youngest Investigator.

While most of her current work resides in building the foundation and funding for her proposed studies, Dr. Erickson is curious about "generating new knowledge" on the relationship between circadian clocks, exercise and the skeletal muscular system. This includes understanding what happens to our bodies during shiftwork, like internal desynchrony – when the circadian clocks in the brain and muscles are out of sync with each other, which may promote illness or negative health consequences.

As she has studied this topic with pioneers, like Dr. Karyn Esser from University of Florida, Dr. Erickson believes this emerging field of work could transform our understanding of how our 24-hour modern lifestyles, characterized by living out-of-sync with our internal biological clocks, impact health. This could also improve understanding of not only how circadian rhythm disruption is linked to the development of metabolic disease, but also how individuals can time their lifestyle to optimize physiological resilience.

Dr. Erickson cites the TRI's impressive body of work from our senior investigators, especially through the studies of Dr. Bret Goodpaster, in creating the ideal environment to further develop her future studies. She hopes to follow the trajectory of other TRI Investigators before her, like Dr. Lauren Sparks and Dr. Paul Coen, by "working and being supported by the best to achieve benchmarks" on novel research questions.

Alongside championing her future research, she is also involved in on-going AdventHealth studies, like WELL NURSE, led by Jeanette Green, PhD, APRN, which will investigate exercise training in shift-working nurses. This study has the potential to reveal new insight into exercise as a strategy to improve circadian physiology and improve health.

Dr. Erickson credits her scientific development to exceptional teachers and mentors throughout her career. As she cultivates her line of research, she hopes to inspire younger generations. She just received a notice of her first NIH grant award.

Stephen Gardell, PhD

Senior Investigator Joined: May 2018

Stephen Gardell, PhD is a biomedical researcher trained in biochemistry, molecular biology and pharmacology.

Dr. Gardell received his PhD in Biochemistry from Cornell University and pursued post-doctoral training at the University of California, San Francisco. His career journey took him to the pharmaceutical industry and spanned 21 years at Merck, Bayer and Wyeth. In 2008, Dr. Gardell joined the Sanford Burnham Prebys Medical Research Institute at Lake Nona (SBP) as Associate Professor and Senior Director, Scientific Resources.

It was at SBP that Dr. Gardell was introduced to the TRI and Dr. Smith. Their complementary expertise and common research interests spurred the establishment of a rewarding research collaboration that continues today. When SBP ceased operations at Lake Nona in 2018, Dr. Gardell joined the TRI as a Senior Investigator. The Metabolomics Core that Dr. Gardell established at SBP migrated with him to the TRI.

Dr. Gardell's current research is focused on a molecule called NAD, which is a master regulator of metabolism. He is pursuing a novel drug strategy

"The TRI's cutting-edge facilities and resources are second to none and offer promise for supporting a long, thriving research career. I am excited to work and interact with everyone here as we progress towards the common goal of improving lives."

> – Melissa Erickson, PhD Investigator

Key Publication:

Boosting NAD+ with a small molecule NAMPT activator

Featured in: Nature Communications

Reference: Gardell SJ, Hopf M, Khan A, Dispagna M, Sessions EH, Falter R, Kapoor N, Brooks J, Culver J, Petucci C, Ma CT, Cohen SE, Tanaka J, Burgos ES, Hirschi JS, Smith SR, Sergienko E, Pinkerton AB. Boosting NAD(+) with a small molecule that activates NAMPT. Nature Communications. 2019. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11078-z.

to boost NAD synthesis in cells to promote healthy aging and combat a variety of diseases.

Metabolism is not a static process but is highly dynamic. It is an intricate web of chemical reactions in the cell. Some reactions are slow, others are fast. Dr. Gardell uses mass spectrometry and metabolite tracing with stable isotope derivatives of nutrients to unveil how the rates of various metabolic pathways are altered in different diseases, such as cancer, diabetes and sarcopenia.

Dr. Gardell's arrival at the TRI has enabled his longstanding objective to "translate his discoveries from the bench to the bedside." He looks to continue his metabolism research through future grant support and nurturing fruitful collaborations with his TRI colleagues and beyond.

We discovered novel chemical agents that activate an enzyme (NAMPT) which produces NAD, a master regulator of metabolism. These agents are promising drug candidates due to their ability to raise NAD in cells, thus reaping health benefits.

Bret Goodpaster, PhD

Scientific Director and Senior Investigator Joined: September 2013

Bret Goodpaster, PhD is a scientist and triathlete who "walks the talk" of his science. He is keenly focused on discovering the biological origins of human aging, metabolic diseases including type 2 diabetes and obesity, and understanding the healthpromoting effects of exercise. This interest was cultivated early on in Dr. Goodpaster's life, through the competitiveness of youth, living healthy as a young adult and later watching his father undergo heart surgery at 39, after battling obesity and smoking.

With a post doctorial fellowship in Metabolism and a subsequent professorship with the University of Pittsburgh, Dr. Goodpaster became a pioneer in exercise and diabetes research, discovering the "Athlete's Paradox". This shifted a paradigm in the field to investigate how and why fat accumulation in muscle causes insulin resistance in some people but not others. He has written over 200 peer-reviewed papers, review articles and book chapters, and served on editorial boards for Diabetes, the American Journal of Physiology, the Journals of Gerontology and others.

Close to 10 years ago, Dr. Goodpaster was unsure about moving his science to Orlando, FL. This changed when he saw an interview with Lars

Houmann wearing a cycling outfit – identifying a common thread of interest and enthusiasm for understanding and living out healthy lifestyles.

Since joining the TRI in 2013, he has spearheaded one of the TRI's biggest studies, MoTrPAC, as the principal investigator, along with support of several subsequent, related studies. One of these sister studies compares the effects of short-term aerobic vs. resistance training on skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in vivo in older adults. This entire thread of research has impacted the general knowledge of exercise and its effects and will continue to do so for several years to come.

Dr. Goodpaster was promoted to Scientific Director in 2020, taking over for the inaugural Scientific Director, Dr. Steven R. Smith, aiming to expand the TRI into fields of research beyond Metabolism and Diabetes. He looks to continue developing this "world-class clinical-translational research" into much more.

Brian Parkin, MD

Associate Investigator Joined: September 2021

Brian Parkin, MD is a physician-scientist focused on early detection and prevention of relapsed acute myeloid leukemia and related cancers, particularly in the setting of bone marrow transplantation. Hailing from the Great Lakes region, he received his residency and post-doctoral fellowship in Internal Medicine and Hematology/Oncology respectively at the University of Michigan. With a desire to solve questions he saw in the hospital, he turned to the laboratory to discover more about translational genomics – understanding how DNA mutations and changes affect the outcomes of patients.

"As much as I love and value basic science, it's that connection with patients that allows us to really ask and answer important questions," he states. "It provides a priceless resource."

Upon arriving at the TRI, Dr. Parkin has bolstered the institution's translational oncology program developing studies that use a combination of ultrahigh sensitivity mutation detection methods and cutting-edge single cell immunoproteogenomics. These are used to detect and characterize low-level residual leukemia that often lead to disease relapse. He is especially interested in understanding the mechanisms by which high-risk leukemias, with

Key Publication:

Metabolic Flexibility in Health and Disease Featured in: Cell Metabolism

Reference: Goodpaster BH, Sparks LM. Metabolic Flexibility in Health and Disease. Cell Metabolism. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2017.04.015.

This review of metabolic flexibility highlights the broad concept to explain insulin resistance and mechanisms governing fuel selection between glucose and fatty acids, in particular in obesity and type 2 diabetes.

"We have 10 years of an outstanding foundation around diabetes and endocrine and metabolism programs that provide all the resources we need... but we also have a ground floor opportunity to build an oncology program on that foundation. We do not have to start from scratch, but we have the opportunity to start something new – and that's very exciting."

TP53 gene mutations, resist chemotherapy and immune surveillance.

While Dr. Parkin is one of TRI's newest investigators, he shares important plans with the institution.

Dr. Parkin has two primary goals, each focused on building the TRI's translational oncology program and data pool. He is working in conjunction with the processing lab within the TRI to establish and cultivate a clinically annotated biorepository, collecting specimens from willing patients with acute leukemia or undergoing bone marrow transplants. This will provide a priceless opportunity to study a wide range of patients and understand why some responded to their treatments while others did not. This will aid in zeroing in on clearer medical answers and practices.

Additionally, he looks to further clinical trial development with academic and industry partners with a goal to build sound, correlative scientific aims into clinical trial protocols. This will ultimately provide higher quality, more efficient trials that build on past lessons learned and allow deeper analysis of the results of the trials in the laboratory.

– Brian Parkin, MD Associate Investigator

Richard Pratley, MD

Senior Investigator Samuel E. Crockett Chair in Diabetes Research Joined: April 2011

Richard Pratley, MD is a scientist and active clinician within the field of diabetes research and endocrine studies. He was the first investigator recruited by Dr. Smith over 10 years ago, appointed to oversee the diabetes program within the TRI. Dr. Pratley has since been integral to developing clinical trials and the lab-based approach to pancreas pathobiology at the institute.

With fellowships in geriatric medicine at the University of Michigan and John Hopkins University, Dr. Pratley furthered his career as the Director of the Diabetes and Metabolism Translational Medicine Unit at the University of Vermont. Familiar with Dr. Smith and his work in diabetes and metabolism research, a professional trip to Orlando turned into a recruitment opportunity for the TRI. Dr. Pratley was impressed not only by Dr. Smith's grand aspirations, but the commitment of the AdventHealth leadership behind him.

"There was a consistent story of 'we are committed to doing research. We're committed the fields of diabetes, obesity and metabolism. Not because it's going to make a lot of money, but because this is an important area'... I saw an opportunity to grow (with that commitment)." Dr. Pratley has gone on to become part of the top 2% of published researchers in the world – with over 150 of his publications being published while with the TRI. He has also bolstered the TRI's type 1 diabetes program, working with the AdventHealth Foundation to raise funds for the von Weller Family Chair in Type 1 Diabetes Research Foundation.

YEAR

TRI TEAM MEMBE

Within type 2 diabetes research, Dr. Pratley continues to cultivate a program focused on understanding the role of circulating miRNAs and extracellular vesicles in inter-organ (pancreas, adipose tissue and muscle) signaling and as biomarkers of disease pathobiology – with help from a Miller Foundation grant.

He also serves as a Co-PI for the WISDM trial, a multicenter trial of CGM in over 200 older individuals with type 1 diabetes. The goal is to determine if the use of continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) can reduce hypoglycemia among older adults with type 1 diabetes, which could result in important public health implications in the future.

Lauren Sparks, PhD

Associate Investigator Joined: August 2012

Lauren Sparks, PhD is a researcher that specializes on the impact of adipose tissue quality – rather than quantity – on whole body metabolism in the contexts of aging, obesity and exercise. Receiving her PhD and post doctorial fellowship with Pennington Biomedical Research Center at Louisiana State University, Dr. Sparks first met Dr. Smith as a PhD advisor. This mentorship greatly impacted her work and would later bring her to tour and consider the TRI, which she recalled as "a phenomenal visit and ridiculously impressive". After serving a post-doctorial tenure with Maastricht University in the Netherlands, Sparks joined the TRI as an investigator in 2012.

She vividly remembers early moments of growth, like learning how to write her first grant as an Investigator through collaboration with Dr. Smith. Upon officially receiving the American Diabetes Association Junior Faculty Award, Dr. Sparks ecstatically ran to Dr. Smith's office to celebrate the victory.

She has gone on to help the TRI grow by receiving the funding to purchase an instrument of single cell work, called iCell8, which permits the interrogation of the transcriptomes of individual

Key Publication:

Effect of Continuous Glucose Monitoring on Hypoglycemia in Older Adults with Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized Clinical Trial

Featured in: JAMA

Reference: Reference: **Pratley RE**, Kanapka LG, Rickels MR, Ahmann A, Aleppo G, Beck R, Bhargava A, Bode BW, Carlson A, Chaytor NS, Fox DS, Goland R, Hirsch IB, Kruger D, Kudva YC, Levy C, McGill JB, Peters A, Philipson L, Philis-Tsimikas A, Pop-Busui R, Shah VN, Thompson M, Vendrame F, Verdejo A, Weinstock RS, Young L, Miller KM. Effect of Continuous Glucose Monitoring on Hypoglycemia in Older Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2020. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6928. This randomized clinical trial demonstrated that continuous glucose monitoring was effective at reducing hypoglycemia, as well as improving overall glucose control, compared with standard blood glucose monitoring in older adults with type 1 diabetes.

Key Publication:

Exercise Response Variations in Skeletal Muscle PCr Recovery Rate and Insulin Sensitivity Relate to Muscle Epigenomic Profiles in Individuals with Type 2 Diabetes

Featured in: Diabetes Care

Reference: Stephens NA, Brouwers B, Eroshkin AM, Yi F, Cornnell HH, Meyer C, Goodpaster BH, Pratley RE, Smith SR, **Sparks LM**. Exercise Response Variations in Skeletal Muscle PCr Recovery Rate and Insulin Sensitivity Relate to Muscle Epigenomic Profiles in Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2018. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0296. cells from any tissue in the body. This has enabled investigators to look at the impacts of aging, obesity, hyperinsulinemia and exercise training on individual populations of cells from adipose tissue and the skeletal muscle – positioning the TRI at the forefront of molecular research today.

YEAR

Through one of her R01 grant projects, a longitudinal, ancillary study to SOMMA, she is assessing the impact of aging on the development of mobility disability in over 800 older adults, through deep phenotyping of the skeletal muscle. She looks to uncover a clearer understanding of how adipose tissue quality affects muscle quality and physical function – a topic which is generally unknown at this time.

Beyond her scientific endeavors, Dr. Sparks looks to train and mentor budding scientists to find their own independent career trajectories, as she was mentored by those before her. The skills she has cultivated throughout her career have called her to lead the TRI and its scientists into the future.

Some individuals with type 2 diabetes do not reap metabolic benefits from exercise training, yet the underlying mechanisms of training response variation are largely unexplored. We classified individuals with type 2 diabetes (n = 17) as nonresponders (n = 6) or responders (n = 11) based on changes in phosphocreatine (PCr) recovery rate after 10 weeks of aerobic training. We aimed to determine whether the training response variation in PCr recovery rate was marked by distinct epigenomic profiles in muscle prior to training.

Tina Thethi, MD, MPH

Associate Investigator Joined: July 2019

Tina Thethi, MD, MPH is a practicing endocrinologist and researcher who focuses her studies on the complications associated with obesity and type 2 diabetes, with a specific interest in kidney disease. Recently, she has been focusing on why certain subgroups of patients with and without type 2 diabetes are more susceptible to developing kidney disease.

Dr. Thethi completed her Master of Public Health after finishing her fellowship in Endocrinology and Metabolism at Tulane University. She enjoyed over a decade of medical teaching. She also led the endocrine section at the Southeast Louisiana Veterans Healthcare System as the section chief. Looking to further cultivate her research in kidney disease, she joined the TRI, where she appreciated not only the collaborative science, but the culture of the institution as well.

While her work is to extend the understanding of root causes and early detection of kidney disease, she also believes in the need to study the effects and causes beyond the physical body, relating to the values of whole-person care. Dr. Thethi believes in the TRI's spirit of authenticity and connection, which aligns with her own values. The memories she values most from the institute are that of the comradery that have contributed to her growth professionally and personally.

"This isn't about a building or project," said Thethi. "It's' about a collective journey." She continues to champion the connective environment that comprises the TRI, which branches from her whole-person approach to research and discovery. "Without connection, you do not have cohesiveness. One must be able to bring people together. You bring people together with energy. "

Dr. Thethi continues her work to understand the heterogeneity seen in kidney disease. In parallel, while in clinic, she also strives to understand the psychological aspects of a patient's life and how their emotional wellbeing and spirituality affects their health. Her goal is to integrate the teaching of spirituality into the practice of medicine. She hopes to study the impact of practicing mindfulness and meditation on disease outcomes. "We are so caught up in the what, instead of the who," she says "(but) who are you? You are the soul."

Past & Current Post-Doctoral Fellows

Bram Browers, PhD Elvis Carnero, PhD Giovanna Distefano, PhD Adeline Divoux, PhD Gabiella Garufi, PhD Mathew Hinkley, PhD Daria Igudesman, PhD Zuzana Kovacova, PhD Meenu Madan, PhD Stephanie Marshall, PhD

Past Faculty

Christian Meyer, MD

Global Director of Scientific Affairs, Diabetes & Metabolism, Merck

George Kyriazis, MD

Associate Professor, Biological Chemistry Ohio State University

"Being at TRI has brought opportunities to work with other investigators. This has helped me in growing my own research ideas. Undergoing these processes during a pandemic has given a whole new meaning to the understanding of collective energy which has propelled my thinking as a researcher. The moments of joy and laughter over small, but meaningful victories achieved as a team, and the display of camaraderie in the past more than two years are my favorite memories."

> Tina Thethi, MD, MPH Associate Investigator

"My time at the TRI helped me grow as an independent scientist. At TRI, I became more experienced in identifying gaps in scientific knowledge, formulating critical scientific questions and identify opportunities on how to answer those questions. I also started to be exposed to collaborations with industry partners."

"I feel fortunate to have joined TRI during its early days. The atmosphere was full of energy, excitement and optimism. There were many things to figure out, as expected from a newly established research center, but there was a clear vision. This was very motivating for everyone who worked together to make TRI nationally recognized."

John Noone, PhD Yury Nunez-Lopez, PhD Maria Pino, PhD Sofhia Ramos, PhD Robert Standley, PhD Natalie Stephens, PhD Katie Whytock, PhD Tracey Woodlief, PhD Reichelle Yeo, PhD Xiaolie Zhang, PhD

Magdalena Pasarica, MD Professor of Medicine University of Central Florida

- Bram Brouwers, PhD

- George Kyriazis, MD

Spotlight Studies

"The measure of greatness in a scientific idea is the extent to which it stimulates thought and opens up new lines of research."

- Paul Dirac

Renowned scientist, developer of the quantum field theory and other quantum mechanic theories

D2d

Richard Pratley, MD - Senior Investigator

Diabetes is the seventh-leading cause of death in the United States, responsible for over 80,000 deaths in 2015, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. While observational studies indicated a connection between higher vitamin D levels and reduction of type 2 diabetes risk, whether supplementation with vitamin D would prevent diabetes in people who were not selected to be deficient was unknown.

The Vitamin D in Type 2 Diabetes (D2d) study was an NIH funded, multi-center trial (including the AdventHealth Translational Research Institute), which tested whether taking vitamin D could lower the risk of diabetes in people with a high risk. Over 2,400 adults with pre-diabetes were enrolled and randomized to either 4,000 units of vitamin D per day or a placebo and received blood tests twice per year for an average of two-and-a-half years to monitor for the development of diabetes. Vitamin D supplementation did not significantly reduce the likelihood of developing type 2 diabetes in people with pre-diabetes, who already had normal vitamin D levels. However, among those with pre-diabetes, who had very low vitamin D levels when they joined the study, a reduced risk of developing the diabetes after vitamin D supplementation was observed. Overall, vitamin D supplementation at the doses used in the study was safe and well-tolerated.

DREAM

Anna Casu, MD - Associate Investigator

The body's insulin-producing cells are dispersed throughout the pancreas, a large gland that produces digestive enzymes. This gland can become inflamed during episodes of acute pancreatitis, impairing the function of all pancreatic cells, including those producing insulin. Diabetes mellitus, in and after acute pancreatitis, was historically thought to be a transient phenomenon due to acute

inflammation. However, it is increasingly recognized as one of its late and permanent complications, occurring in as many as 20% of the people who experience acute pancreatitis. This form of diabetes often requires insulin for treatment, resembling type 1 diabetes, but the actual incidence rate of diabetes mellitus following acute pancreatitis and the underlying mechanisms causing it are not known.

To address these knowledge gaps, the NIH has assembled a consortium of ten clinical centers across the United States. This consortium, called the Type 1 Diabetes and Acute Pancreatitis consortium (T1DAPC), is made up of experts in diabetes, immunology, pancreatitis and imaging. This team will leverage their collective, multi-disciplinary scientific expertise to perform metabolic studies in patients following a bout of acute pancreatitis. The **Diabetes RElated to Acute pancreatitis and its** Mechanisms (DREAM) study will build a cohort of 1,000 people who have had at least one episode of acute pancreatitis to answer the above-mentioned questions on diabetes in acute pancreatitis. It is hoped that these studies will lead to an improved understanding of the phenomenon and might eventually lead to new ways to prevent and treat the disease. The AdventHealth Translational Research Institute partners with the University of Florida as one of these centers in the T1DAPC.

MAC

Steven R. Smith. MD - Chief Scientific Officer Karen Corbin, PhD, RD - Investigator

Bacteria in the gut (the gut microbiome) impact how efficiently we extract energy (calories) from food, the effectiveness of some medications and multiple other aspects of human health. No prior studies have quantified the impact of the gut microbiome on energy balance in humans. Integrating Quantitative Energetics Determines the Microbiome's Contribution to Energy Balance (MAC) addresses this important knowledge gap. TRI researchers, in collaboration with Arizona



State University, completed a study whose primary objective was to determine differences in energy balance after consuming a Western Diet (control) versus a Microbiome Enhancer Diet intervention intended to optimize the gut microbiome for positive impacts on host energy balance. Our entire understanding of the calorie content of foods does not currently account for how the gut microbiome impacts energy absorption and utilization by the human host. Therefore, the results of this work will help redefine our understanding of the impact of diet on weight regulation and overall health.

MATPET

James P. DeLany, PhD – Senior Investigator

The prevalence of type 2 diabetes is nearly twofold higher in African American women compared to Caucasian women, but reasons for this racial difference are not understood. Lower insulin sensitivity, a major risk factor for development of diabetes, is reported in African American Women. In our previous work, we demonstrated lower insulin sensitivity in lean, young African American women that was due exclusively to lower peripheral glucose uptake, with normal liver insulin sensitivity.

The application of PET/MRI imaging allows us to explore the specific metabolic steps that are altered and the contribution of adipose tissue and skeletal muscle underlying the lower peripheral glucose uptake in African American women. We have completed imaging studies in six African American and 10 Caucasian women, and we recently received additional funding to explore these mechanisms in Hispanic women, who also have a higher prevalence of type 2 diabetes. Our findings will provide insights into therapeutics that target mechanisms underlying lower peripheral glucose uptake specific to African American and Hispanic women, which may be implemented to decrease obesity-related insulin resistance and diabetes.

RESIST

Lauren Sparks, PhD - Associate Investigator

By 2050 the number of people with diagnosed diabetes in the United States will reach 29 million. Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is typified by aberrations in insulin sensitivity and skeletal muscle metabolism. Considering group averages, exercise training restores skeletal muscle metabolism and insulin sensitivity in individuals with T2D to levels observed in healthy individuals. However, as much as 20% of individuals with T2D do not respond favorably to exercise training in terms of glycemic control and skeletal muscle metabolism. Conclusions about the beneficial effects of exercise are too often drawn based on average responses, and how exercise may benefit people with T2D is unclear. Moreover, little is known about those individuals who do not respond favorably to exercise. The RESIST study was a 3-year clinical study in individuals with T2D funded by the American Diabetes Association to address some of these gaps. We found that this "exercise non-response" in vivo in insulin sensitivity and muscle metabolism can be distinguished in these individuals by muscle molecular profiles prior to starting the exercise intervention. The long-term goal is to provide targets for ways to prevent and reverse these barriers to exercise success and shift the diabetes treatment paradigm, targeting exercise interventions to those most likely to benefit and identifying novel, even non-exercise, approaches to treat those who do not.

MODIFY

Karen Corbin, PhD, RD - Investigator

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most common chronic liver disorder in western societies and is on a trajectory for becoming the top indication for liver transplantation. The gut microbiome is a central modulator of multiple host and environmental influencers of liver physiology that could represent a unifying mechanism in NAFLD and related comorbidities. A Case-Control, Observational, Proof of Mechanism Study to Define Microbiome-Mediated Gut Dysfunction Across the Spectrum of Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (MODIFY) is the first human study to evaluate microbiome mechanisms directly in the gut lining by measuring the encroachment of microbes into the normally sterile inner mucus layer. Our study will address critical shortcomings in our current mechanistic understanding of how the microbiome modulates liver physiology.

MoTrPAC

Bret Goodpaster, PhD - Scientific Director and Senior Investigator

Despite decades of research establishing the benefits of exercise to our overall health, we still don't know precisely what happens deep within the body at a molecular level during and after we exercise. These questions led the Translational Research Institute (TRI) to partner with the National Institutes of Health's (NIH) Molecular Transducers of Physical Activity Consortium (MoTrPAC) six-year research study. Our hypothesis is that there are discoverable molecular transducers that communicate and coordinate the impact of exercise on specific cells, tissues and organs within the body. Identifying and characterizing these specific molecular transducers will help us to better understand how exercise improves health and prevents disease.

The TRI is one of 10 clinical sites across the country that will collect an extensive amount of data using blood and tissue samples from the participants before and after each exercise session, as well as data on fitness, strength and body composition. This extensive research will allow us to better understand the specific factors that influence someone's response to exercise. Ultimately, we want to be able to take a precision medicine approach — to prescribe and customize the type and amount of exercise to each individual, in order to achieve the best possible health outcome.

NADflux

Stephen Gardell, PhD - Senior Investigator

Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD) is a vitally important chemical substance that plays many roles in all cells. Elevated levels of NAD are associated with healthy aging whereas low levels of NAD are linked to a wide variety of diseases. NAD is constantly synthesized and broken down in cells. Determining the rates of NAD synthesis and consumption is crucial to better understand why NAD levels vary in cells. In Measurement of NAD+ Synthesis in Human Skeletal Muscle, this is accomplished by metabolite tracing experiments with human volunteers that receive intravenous deuterated nicotinamide (i.e., "heavy" nicotinamide or D4-NAM). D4-NAM is a precursor for NAD in cells that gives rise to "heavy" NAD. Mass spectrometry allows us to discriminate the newly formed NAD ("heavy" NAD) from unlabeled NAD that already existed in the cell. The extent to which "heavy" NAD is enriched in the total NAD pool reveals the NAD biosynthetic flux. Consumption of "heavy" NAD by another set of cell enzymes yields a different "heavy" nicotinamide species (D3-NAM) that can be discriminated from the D4-NAM administered to human volunteers. Hence, the appearance of D3-NAM reveals the NAD consumptive flux.

Why is this important? It is the changes in the rates of NAD synthesis and consumption that are the likely contributors to disease. We will evaluate the impact of acute exercise, aging and other experimental variables on the rates of NAD synthesis and consumption in human subjects. Knowing if NAD synthesis or consumption is abnormal in a particular disease or with aging will focus our attention on the best way to normalize the NAD level in cells and, in turn, improve human health.



PIONEER 4

Richard Pratley, MD - Senior Investigator

The glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists are highly effective treatments for type 2 diabetes and are associated with significant weight loss. Most are given by subcutaneous injection, which limits utilization for many patients and providers. A Study Investigating the Efficacy and Safety of Oral Semaglutide versus Liraglutide and versus Placebo in Subjects with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (PIONEER 4), was a phase 3 clinical trial that compared the effects of the first oral GLP-1 (semaglutide) and an established, once daily, injected GLP-1 (liraglutide). Oral semaglutide was similar to subcutaneous liraglutide in decreasing HbA1c, a measure of blood sugar control, and superior in decreasing body weight. This study is significant, because it demonstrated, for the first time, that oral administration of a GLP-1 receptor agonists produced benefits equivalent to or superior to injection. This could potentially shift the treatment paradigm and lead to earlier initiation of GLP-1 receptor agonist therapy among patients with type 2 diabetes.

REST

Paul M. Coen, PhD - Associate Investigator

Skeletal muscle atrophy occurs during hospitalization or immobilization due to illness and injury and leads to a loss of muscle strength and physical function. The presence of type 2 diabetes (T2D) may exacerbate this health issue, which represents an enormous public health problem. In The Role of type 2 diabetes on skeletal muscle atrophy and recovery following bed rest in older adults (REST), the objective of this NIA supported R01 is to decipher the mechanisms by which mitochondrial energetics and muscle lipids underlie early muscle catabolic responses to immobilization. Through innovative time course studies and measurements in serial human muscle biopsies conducted at the TRI, and through collaborations with experts in lipidomics (Dr. Michael Kiebish, BERG) and proteomics (Dr. Ben Miller, Oklahoma

Medical Research Foundation), we will place the etiology of muscle atrophy firmly in the context of mitochondrial biology and will contribute to a better precision medicine approach to prevent and treat disuse atrophy of muscle.

SOUL

Tina Thethi, MD, MPH - Associate Investigator

Backed by the North American National Leader Panel, the **Semaglutide cardiovascular outcomes** trial in patients with type 2 diabetes (SOUL) study utilizes the TRI as one of its research sites. SOUL is a randomized, double-blind, multi-center, international trial of more than 9,000 subjects sponsored by Novo Nordisk to evaluate whether oral semaglutide, in comparison to placebo added to standard of care lowers the risk of cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes, who are at high risk for cardiovascular disease. Given that oral semaglutide, Rybelsus, is the first oral glucagon like receptor-1 receptor agonist (GLP1-RA), SOUL is a pivotal trial in its field.

WELL NURSE

Melissa Erickson, PhD - Investigator

Shiftwork requires one to be awake and active at times that are out of sync with our internal circadian clocks, and this may challenge our physiology in ways that promote weight gain and type 2 diabetes risk. However, our fundamental understanding of how shiftwork impacts our metabolic health is only in its infancy, as most research-to-date is derived from animal models or epidemiology. A new study at AdventHealth aims to find answers to these questions by studying how our body's metabolism is impacted during nightshift work. Investigators will also test if regular exercise improves our biological resilience to shiftwork by impacting our internal circadian clocks.

10 Year Team Members

"The important thing in science is not so much to obtain new facts, as to discover new ways of thinking about them."

- William Lawrence Bragg, Nobel Prize in Physics recipient (1915) and discoverer of Bragg's law of X-Ray diffraction

Tavis Cross

Manager, Clinical Research Unit Joined: August 2012

Tavis Cross is a SOCRA-Certified Research Professional and U.S. Army veteran with over 20 years of health care experience. His manager, and later mentor, urged him to continue pursuing higher education and worked with him to find the right role within the institution at the time - a Clinical Research Assistant on the night shift. The friendships and working relationships that have grown over the years have made his career journey even sweeter, with the traditions and teambuilding events that are at the forefront of the TRI culture.

Heather Cornnell, PhD

Senior Research Scientist, Imaging Joined: September 2011

Heather Cornnell, PhD is a proven imaging scientist who has "grown up" as a researcher alongside the Translational Research Institute.

Since joining the TRI, she has developed and optimized the MRI, DEXA and Fibroscan acquisition and quality procedures through her leadership of the Imaging CORE.

Dr. Cornnell points to TRI personnel as not only a key factor in her growth, but also a strength that sets the Institute apart. The team-based atmosphere has fostered the perfect learning environment amid challenges, promoting creativity and teamwork.

Parvin Guevara

Research Assistant II Joined: April 2011

Parvin Guevara is a Research Laboratory Assistant with over 20 years of experience in the field. Parvin has enjoyed watching the TRI's growth and the subsequent new studies they have taken on - which have expanded their fields of expertise by leaps and bounds. This has not only grown her skillset within the Lab, but also the comradery she shares with other team members within the Research Lab.





10 Year Team Members



Cherie Shook Research Associate, Imaging

Joined: January 2012

Cherie Shook is an imaging technician certified in radiology, CT, and MRI scanning, with over 30 years of experience in the field. She joined the team after developing a strong working relationship with Heather Cornnell, PhD, assisting with the magnetic imaging equipment. The synergy between Shook and Cornnell has defined the Imaging CORE's abilities over the years. Each is able to see data from a different perspective, which creates a well-rounded collaboration something Shook notes as a defining characteristic of the TRI.



Josh Smith

Research Laboratory Senior Manager Joined: June 2011

Intrigued by the "bench to bedside" premise of the TRI, Josh Smith came to the Institute and has risen to the a leadership role for a skilled, 18-member team, "moving at the speed of science." Alongside being a key contributor to the design and oversight of the 2nd floor Research Lab and 3rd floor Research Oncology and Precision Medicine Labs, Smith was integral to the development of the TRI biorepository. Throughout his time at the TRI, Smith has seen and experienced the Institute's culture of professional growth and collaboration.



Fanchao Yi, PhD

Senior Data Scientist, Biostatistics Joined: September 2011

Fanchao Yi, PhD is a biostatistician who has assisted in research at the TRI by providing statistical support for translational research studies over the past 10 years. Through his role, he has served investigators "like a sidekick" throughout all stages of the scientific research process, including experiment design, randomization process, data collection and cleaning, modeling and publication. He believes the strong teamwork and collaboration aspect sets the Institute apart from the rest.



10 Year Team Members



Adeline Divoux, PhD

Independent Scientist, Imaging Joined: January 2012

Adeline Divoux, PhD is a French researcher specializing in work with bariatric surgery specimens and human adipose tissue to aid understanding of obesity complications. She was referred to Dr. Smith and the TRI by a friend and was subsequently impressed by the budding team's culture and by Dr. Smith's warmth, reputation, and vision. Today, seeing TRI as a "leading institute for clinical research", Divoux looks to continue mentoring young investigators and post-docs within the institute.



Rebecca Zuvich Essner, PhD

Senior Research Scientist, Genomics Joined: September 2011

Rebecca Zuvich Essner, PhD is a senior researcher studying genomics, population health and implementation science through AdventHealth Genomics and Personalized Health. Starting at the TRI as a post-doctorial scientist, she most fondly remembers how quickly she gained "a sense of belonging" as a new hire due to the warmth and openness of her fellow team members.

Michelle Estee

Regulatory Specialist I Joined: May 2012

Michelle Estee is one of the several professionals who believe they have truly "grown up" at the TRI through countless memories, experiences and challenges. Originally drawn to AdventHealth's values, Estee joined the TRI and gleaned a first-hand look at real-time clinical research complemented by an academic-based environment. From day one, she could sense the team's energy, warmth and "family-like" atmosphere, which was supported by countless fun memories and team-building events.







Faculty Academic Collaborations In The US

Academic Collaborations

Arizona State University – **Tempe, AZ** Ball State University – Muncie, IN Brown University – **Providence**, **RI** California Pacific Medical Center – San Francisco, CA Childrens Hospital of Philadelphia – Philidephia, PA Columbia University – New York City, NY Duke University – **Durham, NC** Henry Ford Health System – **Detriot**, **MI** Moffitt Cancer Centers – Tampa, FL Mount Sinai Hospital – New York City, NY Oregon Health & Science University – **Portland, OR** Pacific Northwest National Laboratory –**Richland, WA** Pennington Biomedical Research Center – Baton Rouge, LA Pennsylvania State University – University Park, PA St. Luke's Roosevelt Institute for Health Sciences -Chesterfield, MO Sanford-Burnham Medical Research Institute, Inc. – La Jolla, CA The Ohio State University Medical Center – Columbus, OH Tufts University – **Sommerville, MA** University of Alabama, Birmingham – Birmingham, AL University of Chicago – Chicago, IL University of Colorado – **Denver, CO** University of Florida – Gainesville, FL University of Iowa – Iowa City, IA University of Michigan – Ann Arbor, MI University of North Carolina – Chapel Hill, NC University of Pittsburgh – Pittsburgh, PA University of South Alabama – Mobile, AL University of South Florida – Tampa, FL University of Texas / MD Anderson – Austin, TX University of Texas Health Science Center, San Antonio – San Antonio, TX Wake Forest University – Winston Salem, NC Yale University – New Haven, CT

Influential Leadership



Randy Haffner, PhD

Senior Executive Vice President and CEO. Central Florida Division

As one of the key leaders within the AdventHealth system, Randy Haffner believes in the importance of learning as an organization through research. This insight should be demonstrated through the lives of the people that are able to access care that otherwise would not be available to them. He is proud of the past decade of discovery and looks forward to the future, where he hopes to see the TRI and AHRI bolster their partnerships and take their research to new heights.

"The TRI was this idea of how do we narrow the distance between the researcher and the bedside...in the 32 years that I've been here, the approach that we take relative to specific disease status is remarkably different. It's because of the advancements in technology and the advancements in understanding."



Lars Houmann

Retired, AdventHealth Corporate Chief Operating Officer

Lars Houmann was a lead force in ensuring the TRI was created and led by a visionary who would transform the endeavor. He firmly believed it was the organization's "duty" to get involved in research - elevating AdventHealth into the level of an academic medical center that focuses on high quality service and safety. The TRI was designed to advance our academic standing, improve patient care and drive economic development in central Florida. Houmann was also set on hiring Dr. Smith as the TRI's lead, flying to Texas to discuss it personally with him and seal the deal.

"The TRI represents a commitment to something greater than ourselves. We're doing it not because we'll make more money, but because we'll improve patient care and clinical outcomes. It's our duty to advance care.... I am proud of Steve Smith, and the legacy of the TRI, and how much that has influenced people to be disciplined, to think, to organize and articulate. I'm so proud of what it has become." (Chief Executive Officer, Florida Hospital, Central Florida Division)



David Moorhead, MD

Executive Vice President and Chief Clinical Officer

David Moorhead, MD played a key role as AdventHealth's Chief Clinical Officer during the development of the TRI, which at first served as a joint venture with the incoming Sanford Burnham Medical campus in Medical City. The TRI stood as the catalyst to streamlining fundamental oversight of research at AdventHealth. Moorhead ultimately points to the TRI's leader, Dr. Smith as the "driver" who clarified the vision of what the TRI could become.

"We never had the aspiration to be a basic science institution. We felt we had huge opportunities to do clinical research. With Steven's help, it morphed from potentially ad hoc clinical research that had the interest of particular clinicians to a commitment that the research needed to have substantive transformational implications." (Chief Clinical Officer)





Rob Deininger

CEO, AdventHealth Orlando

Rob Deininger remembers how detailed and involved AdventHealth's senior leadership was in moving the TRI from a concept to reality. As the Vice President of Research Operations for AdventHealth Orlando, engagement reflected how important research was to be "front and center" within the organization. Even today, he is still just as invested in the TRI's success and its future.

"The level of care that is delivered as a result of research being a part of clinical care is clearly a differentiator. We are getting better in everything from registries to retrospective studies. Our patients get better care today than 10 years ago, in part because of the research infrastructure that's been built and the commitment to quality that drives the TRI." (Vice President, Research Operations)

Donna Lamb

President and Chief Executive Officer, National Resident Matching Program

Donna Lamb remembers how the inception of the TRI "felt trailblazing". After a couple of attempts to initiate cancer research, the organization leaned into the idea of a metabolism focus. This eventually evolved into discussing translational research. They sought to answer the question: "What can we do differently using new strategies in research that will make a difference in the world and offer a lasting impact? The TRI was the result."

"It was pretty exciting at the time. There was nothing like it in Orlando. It was a true collaboration that would allow us to create competency within the AdventHealth system that not only did it not have, but it never even dreamed of having. It was an effort to be forward thinking and look at chronic diseases of the community and figure out how we can do things differently." (Founding Director of the Translational Research Institute)

Terry Owen

Consultant, AdventHealth Leadership Institute

Terry Owen recalls AdventHealth leadership narrowing the field down to Dr. Smith as the first-pick leader to bring about the vision of the TRI. Passionate about bringing research to the then Florida Hospital, he believed this endeavor had the potential to elevate the enterprise to new heights, all while paying respect to the Adventist legacy in health care.

Owen believes the legacy of the TRI will continue to improve patient care, lead to better treatment algorithms and strengthen pathways in both business and health care.

"If we were going to get to the next level of care for AdventHealth Orlando, we knew we needed to get into the research component to attract the best clinicians, thought leaders and team members... to look at the horizon to new learning..." (Senior Executive Officer)

Brian Paradis **CEO**, C-suite Growth Advisors

Brian Paradis recalls how important research was to AdventHealth's growth strategy to generate "local-level" impact and enhance AdventHealth's credibility as an aspiring health care system. The TRI was the beginning of a continuous journey to become a learning health care system. Paradis sees that the Institute has not only influenced health care through its scientific work, but also redefined the culture of the organization "to think different and ask different questions."

"There was something about the notion of translational research...it wasn't just research for curiosity's sake but had intentionality about affecting people and health care... It was the missing piece of a larger vision – a space that was different, new and less encumbered to accomplish things." (Chief Operating Officer, Florida Hospital, Central Florida Division)



AdventHealth Research Institute Leadership



Rob Herzog Vice President of Research Operations

Rob Herzog has overseen all branches of the institute's research departments and core support services since 2014. During that time, he has seen first-hand how impactful the TRI has been in advancing AdventHealth as an organization, and enhancing their service of care. TRI's roots have since produced groundbreaking research infrastructure and resources in other areas of health research, like neuroscience and oncology.

Looking forward to AdventHealth's vision for 2030, research is key to becoming an influential brand founded on quality, safety, and unparalleled compassion delivered to patients.

"The "T" in TRI could just as easily be transformational. Not only has the TRI brought about powerful new scientific knowledge, it has served to teach our organization and our community what is possible when leading scientific minds have access to great technology and great clinicians delivering world-class care.

It is this combination of exceptional whole-person care and globally recognized research that will cause others to look at AdventHealth as the model for how healthcare is being transformed."



Valerie Landrio McDevitt, JD

Executive Director, Research Services

Valerie Landrio McDevitt, JD brings almost 20 years of academic research administration experience to her role directing the Research Services department - a centralized team that supports all the administrative aspects of grants, human subject's research, and technology transfer. Even before joining AdventHealth, she was aware of the TRI and its national reputation.

"The TRI stands out as unique," said McDevitt. "... it would be difficult to successfully build anything like it in an academic environment. The specialized facility alone provides scientific and clinical research opportunities that few other academic research centers, much less hospital systems, can explore. AdventHealth has just the right combination of leadership, top tier researchers, and facilities to continue its upward trajectory- positively impacting our patients and advancing scientific knowledge in key areas effecting Floridians."



Christopher Davis, PhD **Executive Director, Research Operations**

Chris Davis, PhD has illustrated how the benefit of first-hand scientific experience transforms the leadership and outcomes of research operations. Before rising to a leadership role, he first came to the TRI as a Research Scientist in 2012, drawn to institute by Dr. Smith's clear vision of translational research using human subjects – compared to rat models he experienced through work in the pharmaceutical industry.

He was impressed by TRI's "wide-eyed" culture, where team members were eager to cultivate an initiative bigger than themselves, believing "anything was possible" to achieve. Since then, with Davis' "empirical approach" to operations oversight, the Institute has continued to build the infrastructure needed to collect, analyze and learn about their research performance. This ultimately continues to drive TRI's success, and subsequentially AHRI as a whole – leading to better health research data and outcomes.

"As scientists, we don't know enough, ...and a building like TRI gives you the environment and opportunity to explore... With the commitment to cutting edge translational research, its track record of success in academics and extramural funding, the TRI continues to demonstrate what is possible."

Shauni Dusan **Executive Director, Health Outcomes Research**

Shauni Dusan is the newest member of the AHRI leadership team, overseeing and developing streamlined access and portfolio diversity for research data analytics and metrics across the entire AdventHealth system. She believes the impact of the TRI has launched the AdventHealth system into something bigger than just a system of hospitals. Through their bench to bedside research, AdventHealth is becoming a learning health care system capable of great things to come.

She is particularly interested in how the TRI will generate outcomes research for real-time performance improvement within hospitals. Their model of translational research will continue to accelerate implementation and enhanced care within AdventHealth in the future.

"It's important to push the envelope in patient care nationally, so we're not just treating patients based on current protocol," Dusan said. "Our communities are why we exist. We're actively engaging in discovering the most effective treatments, so that we can provide our communities with the best possible care."

40



The TRI Cores

"The TRI specifically allows faculty members with diverse specializations to engage multiple CORES, which would otherwise be unavailable to them. With this access, the investigators have the freedom to come up with bigger and less restricted ideas, on how to better understand health, metabolism, disease progression and response to interventions. This synergistic combination allows AdventHealth to advance the science behind personalized medicine and ultimately, provide the absolute best patient experience in the industry."

- Heather Cornnell, PhD, Imaging Manager

What is a CORE?

A TRI CORE is an operations team led by a subject matter expert that provides researchers access to the latest technology and proven processes to achieve their scientific aims.

Since 2012

Exercise & Bioenergetics Lab



The Exercise & Bioenergetics Lab (EBL) conducts all exercise-related testing and procedures to examine the effects on study participants. Originally contained within two rooms, the lab has since expanded to most of the TRI's third floor. Equipped with a comprehensive array of cardio and strengthtraining equipment, the EBL works with other departments to facilitate the data needed for any study – all in a "one-stop-shop" environment.

The EBL has been pivotal in many new studies within the TRI, as well as globally, including the MoTrPAC study, serving as one of a few sites in the United States to focus on building a worldwide database of exercise-specific data. Maximal muscle and cardiorespiratory testing are done to gain information on a participant's physical limits and expand the research findings in exercise science.

Calorimetry

The Calorimetry CORE aids TRI studies by measuring metabolic activity and providing methods to understand the energy-related effects of an intervention. These baseline measures provide a metabolic snapshot in relation to efficiency, flexibility. This helps to predict energy intake, eliminating study variables.

We use methods such as indirect calorimetry and activity monitors to aid in-trials with other leading research centers focused on this field of data. Since inception, the CORE has grown from hosting small-scale procedures on one metabolic cart to large endeavors across a total of three metabolic carts, two whole room calorimeters and two flex room calorimeters.

Since 2012, the Calorimetry CORE has collected over 50,000 hours of energy expenditure measurements, including exercise, pharmaceutical and diet intervention studies.

Clinic

After recruitment, the journey of translational research begins with the Clinic. Located on the first floor of TRI, the clinic enrolls participants, manages all aspects of the study protocols, aids in protocol development and collects various types of data and documentation. Featuring a private waiting area, eight fully equipped exam rooms, a phlebotomy suite and office space for all clinical staff, it creates the foundation for research protocol to be initiated and turned into precise data collection.

In 2012, the Clinic CORE was comprised of three coordinators and two ARNPs, but has since flourished into a team of nine coordinators and five ARNP/RNs.

One of the most challenging and rewarding accomplishments of this team was their



execution of the COVID-19 vaccine trial, called ENSEMBLE. The team was split between the TRI and two satellite locations, six days a week, to enroll nearly 400 participants in the fall and winter of 2020. They continue to manage all active participants and have since provided boosters to over 200 eligible participants.

- "I am most proud of... how the Clinic team takes on the challenges, adapts and collaborates with other CORES, and has the skills set to mentor and support other departments within the research institute."
- -Natasha Waters

Clinical Research Unit



The Clinical Research Unit (CRU) comprises 10,000+ square feet of the TRI's second floor and facilitates research procedures for participants staying overnight for research studies. Operated 24/7 with ACLS certified RNs and Advanced LPNs on call, the CRU CORE is comprised of two branches – one for inpatient testing and another for metabolic research procedures. This includes six private "hospital rooms", equipped with beds, bathrooms and showers for participants to use during the study. Like other TRI CORES, the CRU has expanded over one decade, strengthening its procedural capabilities. This is exemplified through the Super-CE study conducted by Dr. Richard Pratley, which required pre- and post-interventional biopsies on at least 30 participants. The CRU CORE rose to the occasion and completed over 80 muscle biopsies, all while navigating the COVID-19 Pandemic.

"Hundreds of participants have graced the halls of the TRI and given their feedback concerning our facility. According to them, what sets us apart from other clinical research facilities is our excellent staff and the facility itself. (They express that) our ability to provide private rooms to study participants has made them more comfortable with staying for longer studies and encouraged them to participate in multiple studies."

-Tavis Cross

Imaging



The Imaging CORE is key to technology and phenotyping at the TRI. They provide the identification of imaging biomarkers for personalized medicine and facilitate interventions by precisely measuring changes in the structure and function of the body.

It has grown to feature world-class machinery, including 3T Magnetic Resonance Imaging, Dual-Emission X-ray Absorptiometry and Vibration Controlled Transient Elastography. The Imaging CORE non-invasively investigates various markers of health, metabolism, disease progression and response to treatment. Since its inception, it has also expanded its cutting-edge imaging capabilities, including magnetic resonance image segmentation, magnetic resonance methods for imaging the fat content and stiffness of organs and multi-nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopic techniques, such as proton and phosphorus spectroscopy.

Over the course of the decade, the TRI has maintained its original two imaging team members for the entire decade - growing their skillset along with the CORE. Their commitment to patient safety and attention-to-detail ensures data is high-quality and reproducible.

"The Imaging CORE is unique among other imaging institutions as one of very few research-dedicated, clinical-grade MRI suites that is staffed with a research technologist and a PhD level scientist. This provides faculty, investigators and industry sponsors with the ability to utilize advanced imaging technologies, without having to hire an external expert, and the added benefit of a more streamlined process for both the staff and participants. Our growth and work as a team, our ability to engage with other teams and our resultant data is something I will always be proud of."

– Heather Cornnell, PhD

Metabolic Kitchen



The Metabolic Kitchen supports multiple CORES and investigators within the TRI by implementing all nutrition requirements or data within a study. This includes preparing meals for overnight participants, nutrition counseling, food frequency questionnaires, 24-hour diet recalls and food diary analysis. Featuring commercial-grade equipment, a walk-in cooler, a walk-in freezer and 230-square feet of shelving, the CORE has a team of six highly-trained team members to calculate, prepare and weigh food items for controlled meals and energy intake.

Operating seven days a week for inpatient and outpatient participants, the team constantly adapts to the needs of each new study. This was exemplified through the peak of the COVID-19 pandemic, where staff were required to work remotely and obtain informed consent to aid in the COVID-19 vaccine clinical trial.

The Metabolic Kitchen also serves as a component to AdventHealth's Dietetic Internship Program, where 16 dietetic interns complete a two-day nutrition research rotation within the CORE. While on site, these interns learn about the responsibilities of a registered dietitian working within research, providing unique, first-hand experiences for research-related career paths.



Medical Team

Medical Team provides integral oversight to research activities within the TRI by serving as the liaisons between clinical and non-clinical disciplines. With a widely diverse medical background across team members, they are responsible for performing study related physical examinations and procedures, which include muscle and adipose tissue biopsies, interpreting study related diagnostic tests and assessing adverse events. The two physician scientists who lead the team, Dr. Richard Pratley and Dr. Tina Thethi, are actively engaged in innovative clinical trials to understand the nature and progression of disease.

The strength of this CORE's clinical trial abilities was seen during the pandemic, as they were pivotal in restarting research activity amid nationwide uncertainty. The medical team is also involved in quality and regulatory aspects of research, which helps provide well-rounded feedback to the operations team. This collaboration makes the work environment integrative and allows the medical team to grow their expertise.

Recruitment

"Recruitment is the KEY part of our research."

-Anna Casu, MD

The Recruiting CORE leads all aspects of participant relations, including the facilitation of study opportunities, scheduling appointments, maintaining key information databases and fueling research through marketing strategy. Working closely with Clinical Research Coordinators, the original team of two has expanded over the last decade to encompass a team of seven – including recruiters, a data analyst and manager. Today, the CORE not only is present at key marketing events and expos to promote the TRI's research efforts, but they also create materials for newspapers, social media, radio, television and more.

Strong collaboration and teamwork within the CORE is critical to facilitating each study's particular needs and target audience. Through a streamlined process, they are able to not only bolster participant engagement, but also maintain positive relationships that lead participants to partnering with the Institute again and again.

Research Lab



The Processing Lab CORE within the TRI performs all clinical and translational study logistics, such as collection, processing, storage and shipping of research samples. They also facilitate in-house molecular and phenotypic analysis, along with all responsibilities relating to a biorepository of over two-million parent samples from 98 different studies. All of this is conducted between multiple sites around the Central Florida area.

Beginning over 10 years ago, the CORE housed a single biosafety cabinet, -80C freezer and liquid nitrogen cryo-storage tank at a temporary site. It has since expanded to 13 biosafety cabinets, eight liquid nitrogen cryo-storage tanks and 32 -80°C freezers. The CORE's capabilities are unique in the field, with a world-class combination of cutting-edge equipment and a scalable infrastructure, paired with a cohesive team and culture of service.

One of the Research Lab's greatest accomplishments to-date is the cultivation of their

biorepository. During the first year, they collected 12,981 samples, which they easily bested last year through the collection of 67,301 – or roughly 259 samples per day. While the team's capabilities are strong, their focus will always be toward a commitment to top-tier service, safety and efficiency in all of their responsibilities.

Since 2013

Pharmacy

The TRI Investigational Drug Service Pharmacy supports human clinical research that involves the testing and administration of study prescriptions. They focus on not only the safety and efficiency of medication use, but also control and accountability of medication through the adherence of good clinical practice, DNV, Florida State Board of Pharmacy and other regulatory bodies.

Since 2013, this CORE has filled over 5,000 investigational product prescriptions over the course of 50 studies. They are also the only AdventHealth facility that provides "non-sterile to sterile" injectable drugs, which has aided in several studies at TRI, along with sterile compounding, which has been a key contributor to several studies. The Pharmacy also accomplished the feat of preparing and dosing over 750 Johnson & Johnson COVID-19 vaccines since 2020.

Since 2018

Metabolomics

The Metabolomics CORE at the TRI migrated from Sanford Burnham in 2018. Since its arrival at the TRI, the Metabolomics CORE has expanded its services from targeted metabolomics (the highly quantitative measurement of a few hundred metabolites) to global metabolomics and stable isotope tracing.

This CORE aids in understanding metabolism and its function to clarify disease mechanisms. This provides investigators with key, precise biomarkers to gauge the metabolic processes that govern health and disease.

Senior Investigator and Metabolomics CORE leader, Dr. Stephen Gardell makes an analogy to traffic on a highway. A snapshot of the highway yields information about the numbers of cars but it fails to tell us if the cars are moving. On the other hand, a movie of the highway reveals whether the traffic is stalled or is moving briskly.

Use of metabolite precursors that are decorated with stable isotopes and subsequent detection using mass spectrometry is used to determine the metabolic fate of metabolites and achieve the equivalent of a movie camera view that reveals the flux of different metabolic pathways. This capability promises to broaden our understanding of how altered metabolism causes disease and how these metabolic irregularities can be mitigated to improve health and well-being.

2012

Pratley RE, Gilbert M. Clinical management of elderly patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Postgraduate Medicine. 2012. doi: 10.3810/pgm.2012.01.2526.

Pratley RE, Nauck MA, Bailey T, Montanya E, Filetti S, Garber AJ, Thomsen AB, Furber S, Davies M. Efficacy and safety of switching from the DPP-4 inhibitor sitagliptin to the human GLP-1 analog liraglutide after 52 weeks in metformin-treated patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, open-label trial. Diabetes Care. 2012. doi: 10.2337/dc11-2113.

Bray GA, **Smith SR**, de Jonge L, Xie H, Rood J, Martin CK, Most M, Brock C, Mancuso S, Redman LM. Effect of dietary protein content on weight gain, energy expenditure, and body composition during overeating: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2012. doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1918.

O'Neil P, **Smith SR**, Weissman NJ, Fidler M, Sanchez M, Zhang J, Raether B, Anderson CM, Shanahan WR. Randomized Placebo-Controlled Clinical Trial of Lorcaserin for Weight Loss in Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: the BLOOM-DM Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2012. doi: 10.1038/oby.2012.66.

Sideleva O, Suratt BT, Black KE, Tharp WG, **Pratley RE**, Forgione P, Dienz O, Irvin CG, Dixon AE. Obesity and asthma: an inflammatory disease of adipose tissue not the airway. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. 2012. doi: 10.1164/rccm.201203-05730C.

Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N, Florez H, Haas LB, Halter JB, Huang ES, Korytkowski MT, Munshi MN, Odegard PS, **Pratley RE**, Swift CS. Diabetes in older adults. Diabetes Care. 2012. doi: 10.2337/dc12-1801.

Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N, Florez H, Haas LB, Halter JB, Huang ES, Korytkowski MT, Munshi MN, Odegard PS, **Pratley RE**, Swift CS. Diabetes in older adults: a consensus report. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2012. doi: 10.1111/ jgs.12035.

Johannsen DL, Conley KE, Bajpeyi S, Punyanitya M, Gallagher D, Zhang Z, Covington J, **Smith S**, Ravussin E. Ectopic lipid accumulation and reduced glucose tolerance in elderly adults are accompanied by altered skeletal muscle mitochondrial activity. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2012. Doi: 10.1210/jc.2011-1798.

Prado CM, Wells JC, **Smith SR**, Stephan BC & Siervo M. (2012). Sarcopenic obesity: A Critical appraisal of the current evidence. Clinical Nutrition. 2012. doi: 10.1016/j. clnu.2012.06.010.

Barreira TV, Staiano AE, Harrington DM, Heymsfield SB, **Smith SR**, Bouchard C, Katzmarzyk PT. Anthropometric correlates of total body fat, abdominal adiposity, and cardiovascular disease risk factors in a biracial sample of men and women. Mayo Clinic Proceedings. 2012. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2011.12.017.

Badin PM, Loubiere C, Coonen M, Louche K, Tavernier G, Bourlier V, Mairal A, Rustan AC, **Smith SR**, Langin D, Moro C. Regulation of skeletal muscle lipolysis and oxidative metabolism by the co-lipase CGI-58. Journal of Lipid Research. 2012. doi: 10.1194/jlr. M019182.

2013

Pratley RE, Urosevic D, Boldrin M, Balena R. Efficacy and tolerability of taspoglutide versus pioglitazone in subjects with type 2 diabetes uncontrolled with sulphonylurea or sulphonylurea-metformin therapy: a randomized, double-blind study (T-emerge 6). Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1111/dom.12009.

Pratley RE. Type 2 diabetes is one of the leading causes of premature morbidity and mortality. Introduction. American Journal of Medicine. 2013. doi: 10.1016/j. amjmed.2013.06.008.

Pratley RE. Pathophysiology of the Incretin Pathways in Type 2 Diabetes. Dialogues in Diabetes. 2013.

Pratley RE. The early treatment of type 2 diabetes. American Journal of Medicine. 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2013.06.007

Sparks LM, Johannsen NM, Church TS, Earnest CP, Moonen-Kornips E, Moro C, Hesselink MKC, **Smith SR**, Schrauwen P. Nine Months of Combined Training Improves Ex Vivo Skeletal Muscle Metabolism in Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes. Journal of Clinical endocrinology & Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3874.

Smith SR, Fujioka K, Gupta AK, Billes SK, Burns C, Kim D, Dunayevich E, Greenway

FL. Combination therapy with naltrexone and bupropion for obesity reduces total and visceral adiposity. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1111/dom.12095.

Bray GA, **Smith SR**, Banerji MA, Tripathy D, Clement SC, Buchanan TA, Henry RR, Kitabchi AE, Mudaliar S, Musi N, Ratner RE, Schwenke DC, Stentz FB, Reaven PD, Defronzo RA. Effect of pioglitazone on body composition and bone density in subjects with prediabetes in the ACT NOW trial. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1111/dom.12099.

Liu AG, **Smith SR**, Fujioka K, Greenway FL. The Effect of leptin, caffeine/ephedrine, and their combination upon visceral fat mass and weight loss. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2013. doi: 10.1002/oby.20416.

Johannsen NM, **Sparks LM**, Zhang ZY, Earnest CP, **Smith SR**, Church TS, Ravussin E. Determinants of the Changes in Glycemic Control with Exercise Training in Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Trial. Plos One. 2013. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062973.

White WB, **Pratley RE**, Fleck P, Munsaka M, Hisada M, Wilson C, Menon V. Cardiovascular safety of the dipetidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor alogliptin in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1111/dom.12093.

Koves TR, **Sparks LM**, Kovalik JP, Mosedale M, Arumugam R, DeBalsi KL, Everingham K, Thorne L, Phielix E, Meex RC, Kien CL, Hesselink MKC, Schrauwen P, Muoio DM. PPAR gamma coactivator-1 alpha contributes to exercise-induced regulation of intramuscular lipid droplet programming in mice and humans. Journal of Lipid Research. 2013. doi: 10.1194/jlr.P028910.

Karastergiou K, Fried SK, Xie H, Lee MJ, Divoux A, Rosencrantz MA, Chang RJ, **Smith SR**. Distinct developmental signatures of human abdominal and gluteal subcutaneous adipose tissue depots. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-2953

King AB, Montanya E, **Pratley RE**, Blonde L, Svendsen CB, Donsmark M, Sesti G. Liraglutide achieves A1C targets more often than sitagliptin or exenatide when added to metformin in patients with type 2 diabetes and a baseline A1C <8.0%. Endocrine Practice. 2013. doi: 10.4158/EP12232.OR.

Booth SL, Centi A, **Smith SR**, Gundberg C. The role of osteocalcin in human glucose metabolism: marker or mediator? Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2013. Doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2012.201.

Edwards LM, Kemp GJ, Dwyer RM, Walls JT, Fuller H, **Smith SR**, Earnest CP. Integrating muscle cell biochemistry and whole-body physiology in humans:(31)P-MRS data from the InSight trial. Scientific Reports. 2013. doi: 10.1038/srep01182.

Weissman NJ, Sanchez M, Koch GG, **Smith SR**, Shanahan WR, Anderson CM. Echocardiographic Assessment of Cardiac Valvular Regurgitation with Lorcaserin from Analysis of Three Phase 3 Clinical Trials. Circulation-Cardiovascular Imaging. 2013. doi: 10.1161/CIRCIMAGING.112.000128.

Mansuy-Aubert V, Zhou QL, Xie X, Gong Z, Huang J-Y, Khan AR, Aubert G, Candelaria K, Thomas S, Shin D-J, Booth S, Baig SM, Bilal A, Hwang D, Zhang H, Lovell-Badge R, **Smith SR**, Awan FR, Jiang ZY. (2013). Imbalance between Neutrophil Elastase and its Inhibitor a1-Antitrypsin in Obesity Alters Insulin Sensitivity, Inflammation, and Energy Expenditure. Cell Metabolism. 2013. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.005.

Gan Z, Rumsey J, Hazen BC, Lai L, Leone TC, Vega RB, Xie H, Conley KE, Auwerx J, Smith SR, Olson EN, Kralli A & Kelly DP. (2013). Nuclear receptor/microRNA circuitry links muscle fiber type to energy metabolism. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2013. doi: 10.1172/JCI67652.

2014

Goodpaster BH, Coen PM. Improved Mitochondrial Function Is Linked With Improved Insulin Sensitivity Through Reductions in FFA. Diabetes. 2014. doi: 10.2337/db14-0277.

Kyriazis GA, Smith KR, Tyrberg B, Hussain T, **Pratley RE**. Sweet taste receptors regulate basal insulin secretion and contribute to compensatory insulin hypersecretion during the development of diabetes in male mice. Endocrinology. 2014. doi: 10.1210/en.2013-2015.

Pratley RE. Linagliptin use in older individuals with type 2 diabetes. Clinical Interventions in Aging. 2014. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S62877.

Pratley RE, Kuritzky L, Tenzer P. A patient-centered approach to managing patients with type 2 diabetes. American Journal of Medicine. 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.

Pratley RE, Fleck P, Wilson C. Efficacy and safety of initial combination therapy with alogliptin plus metformin versus as monotherapy in drug-naïve patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, 6-month study. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2014. doi: 10.1111/dom.12258.

Pratley RE, Heller SR, Miller MA. Treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in the older adult: a review. Endocrine Practice. 2014. doi: 10.4158/EP13192.RA.

Pratley RE. The efficacy and effectiveness of drugs for diabetes: how do clinical trials and the real world compare? Diabetologia. 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3263-3.

Pratley RE, Nauck MA, Barnett AH, Feinglos MN, Ovalle F, Harman-Boehm I, Ye J, Scott R, Johnson S, Stewart M, Rosenstock J. Once-weekly albiglutide versus oncedaily liraglutide in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled on oral drugs (HARMONY 7): a randomised, open-label, multicentre, non-inferiority phase 3 study. Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2014. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(13)70214-6.

Seyhan AA, Carini C. RNAi Screens: Triumphs and Tribulations. Clinical and Statistical Considerations in Personalized Medicine. 2014

Smith SR. Drug treatment of obesity. JAMA Internal Medicine. 2014. doi: 10.1001/ jamainternmed.2014.1646.

Smith SR, O'Neil PM, Astrup A, Finer N, Sanchez-Kam M, Fraher K, Fain R, Shanahan WR. (2014). Early weight loss while on lorcaserin, diet and exercise as a predictor of week 52 weight-loss outcomes. Obesity. 2014. doi: 10.1002/oby.20841.

Sparks LM, Bosma M, **Brouwers B**, van de Weijer T, Bilet L,Schaart G, Moonen-Kornips E, Eichmann TO, Lass A, Hesselink MKC, Schrauwen P. Reduced Incorporation of Fatty Acids Into Triacylglycerol in Myotubes From Obese Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes. 2014. doi: 10.2337/db13-1123.

Dube JJ, **Coen PM**, DiStefano G, Chacon AC, Helbling NL, Desimone ME, Stafanovic-Racic M, Hames KC, Despines AA, Toledo FGS, **Goodpaster BH**. Effects of acute lipid overload on skeletal muscle insulin resistance, metabolic flexibility, and mitochondrial performance. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2014. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00257.2014.

Courcoulas AP, **Goodpaster BH**, Eagleton JK, Belle SH, Kalarchian MA, Lang W, Toledo FGS, Jakicic JM. Surgical vs medical treatments for type 2 diabetes mellitus: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Surgery. 2014. doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2014.467.

Ang M, **Meyer C**, Brendel MD, Bretzel RG, Linn T. Magnitude and mechanisms of glucose counterregulation following islet transplantation in patients with type 1 diabetes suffering from severe hypoglycaemic episodes. Diabetologia. 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00125-013-3120-9.

Carini C, **Seyhan A**. Biomarkers for Drug Development: The Time Is Now! Clinical and Statistical Considerations in Personalized Medicine. 2014.

Pittas AG, Dawson-Hughes B, Sheehan PR, Rosen CJ, Ware JH, Knowler WC, Staten MA, **D2d Research Group**. Rationale and design of the Vitamin D and Type 2 Diabetes (D2d) study: a diabetes prevention trial. Diabetes Care. 2014. doi: 10.2337/dc14-1005.

Weissman PN, Carr MC, Ye J, Cirkel DT, Stewart M, Perry C, **Pratley R**. HARMONY 4: randomised clinical trial comparing once-weekly albiglutide and insulin glargine in patients with type 2 diabetes inadequately controlled with metformin with or without sulfonylurea. Diabetologia. 2014. doi: 10.1007/s00125-014-3360-3.

Frost EA, Redman LM, de Jonge L, Rood J, Zachwieja JJ, Volaufova J, Bray GA, **Smith SR**. Interaction between dietary fat and exercise on excess postexercise oxygen consumption. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2014. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00383.2013.

Divoux A, Karastergiou K, Xie H, Guo W, Perera RJ, Fried SK, **Smith SR**. Identification of a novel IncRNA in gluteal adipose tissue and evidence for its positive effect on preadipocyte differentiation. Obesity. 2014. doi: 10.1002/oby.20793.

Lowndes J, Zoeller RF, **Kyriazis GA**, Miles MP, Seip RL, Moyna NM, Visich PS, Pescatello LS, Gordon PM, Thompson PD, Angelopoulos TJ. Hyperleptinemia is Associated With CRP but Not Apolipoprotein E and is Reduced by Exercise Training. International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism. 2014. doi: 10.1123/ ijsnem.2013-0200.

Kim J, Jeong JI, Kim KM, Choi I, **Pratley RE**, Lee Y. Improved glucose tolerance with restored expression of glucose transporter 4 in C57BL/6 mice after a long period of high-fat diet feeding. Animal Cells and Systems. 2014. doi: 10.1080/19768354.2014.924995.

Jeong JK, Kim J, Kim KM, Choi I, **Pratley RE**, Lee Y. Altered gene expression of amyloid precursor protein in the adipose tissue and brain of obese mice fed with long-term high-fat diet and streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Animals Cells and Systems. 2014. doi: 10.1080/19768354.2014.940383.

Smith SR, Diaz-Meco MT, Moscat J. A macrophage NBR1-MEKK3 complex triggers JNK-mediated adipose tissue inflammation in obesity. Cell Metabolism. 2014. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2014.06.008.

Bajpeyi S, Myrland CK, Covington JD, Obanda D, Cefalu WT, **Smith SR**, Rustan AC, Ravussin E. Lipid in skeletal muscle myotubes is associated to the donors' insulin sensitivity and physical activity phenotypes. Obesity. 2014. doi: 10.1002/oby.20556.

Lam YY, Redman LM, **Smith SR**, Bray GA, Greenway FL, Johannsen D, Ravussin E. Determinants of sedentary 24-h energy expenditure: equations for energy prescription and adjustment in a respiratory chamber. American Journal of clinical Nutrition. 2014. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.079566.

Raja GK, Sarzynski MA, Katzmarzyk PT, Johnson WD, Tchoukalova Y, **Smith SR**, Bouchard C. (2014). Commonality versus specificity among adiposity traits in normalweight and moderately overweight adults. International Journal of Obesity. 2014. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2013.153.

Prado CM, Siervo M, Mire E, Heymsfield SB, Stephan BC, Broyles S, **Smith SR**, Wells JC, Katzmarzyk PT. (2014). A population-based approach to define bodycomposition phenotypes. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2014. doi: 10.3945/ ajcn.113.078576.

Henagan TM, Stewart LK, Forney LA, **Sparks LM**, Johannsen N, Church TS. PGC1 alpha-1 Nucleosome Position and Splice Variant Expression and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Overweight and Obese Individuals. PPAR Research. 2014. doi: 10.1155/2014/895734.

2015

Coen PM, Menshikova EV, Distefano G, Zheng D, Tanner CJ, Standley RA, Helbling NL, Dubis GS, Ritov VB, Xie H, Desimone ME, **Smith SR**, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, Houmard JA, **Goodpaster BH**. Exercise and Weight Loss Improve Muscle Mitochondrial Respiration, Lipid Partitioning, and Insulin Sensitivity After Gastric Bypass Surgery. Diabetes. 2015. doi: 10.2337/db15-0809.

Seyhan, AA. microRNAs with different functions and roles in disease development and as potential biomarkers of diabetes: progress and challenges. Molecular Biosystems. 2015. doi: 10.1039/c5mb00064e.

Kelley DE, **Goodpaster BH**. Stewing in Not-So-Good Juices: Interactions of Skeletal Muscle With Adipose Secretions. Diabetes. 2015. doi: 10.2337/db15-0403.

Gilbert MP, **Pratley RE**. The impact of diabetes and diabetes medications on bone health. Endocrine Reviews. 2015. doi: 10.1210/er.2012-1042.

Garufi G, **Seyhan AA**, Pasarica M. Elevated Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein 4 in Obesity: A Potential Role in Adipose Tissue Dysfunction. Obesity. 2015. doi: 10.1002/ oby.20915.

Woodlief TL, Carnero EA, Standley RA, Distefano G, Anthony SJ, Dubis GS, Jakicic JM, Houmard JA, **Coen PM, Goodpaster BH**. Dose Response of Exercise Training Following Roux-en-Y Gastric Bypass Surgery: A Randomized Trial. Obesity. 2015. doi: 10.1002/oby.21332.

Bray GA, Redman LM, de Jonge L, Covington J, Rood J, Brock C, Mancuso S, Martin CK, **Smith SR**. Effect of protein overfeeding on energy expenditure measured in a metabolic chamber. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2015. doi: 10.3945/ ajcn.114.091769.

Stephens NA, Xie H, Johannsen NM, Church TS, **Smith SR**, **Sparks LM**. A transcriptional signature of exercise resistance in skeletal muscle of individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental. 2015. doi: 10.1016/j. metabol.2015.06.008.

Stephens NA, **Sparks LM**. Resistance to the Beneficial Effects of Exercise in Type 2 Diabetes: Are Some Individuals Programmed to Fail? Journal of Clinical endocrinology & Metabolism. 2015. doi: 10.1210/jc.2014-2545.

Miller RR, Eastlack M, Hicks GE, Alley DE, Shardell MD, Orwig DL, **Goodpaster BH**, Chomentowski PJ, Hawkes WG, Hochberg MC, Ferrucci L, Magaziner J. Asymmetry in CT Scan Measures of Thigh Muscle 2 Months After Hip Fracture: The Baltimore Hip Studies. Journals of Gerontology Series A-biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2015. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv053.

MacLean PS, Wing RR, Davidson T, Epstein L, **Goodpaster BH**, Hall KD, Levin BE, Perri MG, Rolls BJ, Rosenbaum M, Rothman AJ, Ryan D. NIH working group report: Innovative research to improve maintenance of weight loss. Obesity. 2015. doi: 10.1002/oby.20967.

Reeves VL, Trybula JS, Wills RC, **Goodpaster BH**, Dube JJ, Kienesberger PC, Kershaw EE. Serum Autotaxin/ENPP2 correlates with insulin resistance in older humans with obesity. Obesity. 2015. doi: 10.1002/oby.21232.

Neufer PD, Bamman MM, Muoio DM, Bouchard C, Cooper DM, **Goodpaster BH**, Booth FW, Kohrt WM, Gerszten RE, Mattson MP, Hepple RT, Kraus WE, Reid MB, Bodine SC, Jakicic JM, Fleg JL, Williams JP, Joseph L, Evans M, Maruvada P, Rodgers M, Roary M, Boyce AT, Drugan JK, Koenig JI, Ingraham RH, Krotoski D, Garcia-Cazarin M, McGowan JA, Laughlin MR. Understanding the Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms of Physical Activity-Induced Health Benefits. Cell Metabolism. 2015. doi: 10.1016/j. cmet.2015.05.011.

Kien CL, Bunn JY, Fukagawa NK, Anathy V, Matthews DE, Crain KI, Ebenstein DB, Tarleton EK, **Pratley RE**, Poynter ME. Lipidomic evidence that lowering the typical dietary palmitate to oleate ratio in humans decreases the leukocyte production of proinflammatory cytokines and muscle expression of redox-sensitive genes. Journal of Nutrition Biochemistry. 2015. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2015.07.014.

Balaz M, Ukropcova B, Kurdiova T, Gajdosechova L, Vlcek M, Janakova Z, Fedeles J, Pura M, Gasperikova D, **Smith SR**, Tkacova R, Klimes I, Payer J, Wolfrum C, Ukropec J. Adipokine zinc- α 2-glycoprotein regulated by growth hormone and linked to insulin sensitivity. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015. doi: 10.1002/oby.20856.

Ravussin E, Redman LM, Rochon J, Das SK, Fontana L, Kraus WE, Romashkan S, Williamson DA, Meydani SN, Villareal DT, **Smith SR**, Stein RI, Scott TM, Stewart TM, Saltzman E, Klein S, Bhapkar M, Martin CK, Gilhooly CH, Holloszy JO, Hadley EC, Roberts SB; CALERIE Study Group. A 2-Year Randomized Controlled Trial of Human Caloric Restriction: Feasibility and Effects on Predictors of Health Span and Longevity. Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2015. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glv057.

Covington JD, Noland RC, Hebert RC, Masinter BS, **Smith SR**, Rustan AC, Ravussin E, Bajpeyi S. Perilipin 3 Differentially Regulates Skeletal Muscle Lipid Oxidation in Active, Sedentary, and Type 2 Diabetic Males. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2015. doi: 10.1210/JC.2014-4125.

Dunn TN, Akiyama T, Lee HW, Kim JB, Knotts TA, **Smith SR**, Sears DD, Carstens E, Adams SH. Evaluation of the synuclein- γ (SNCG) gene as a PPAR γ target in murine adipocytes, dorsal root ganglia somatosensory neurons, and human adipose tissue. PLoS One. 2015. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0115830.

Leibel RL, Seeley RJ, Darsow T, Berg EG, **Smith SR**, Ratner R. Biologic Responses to Weight Loss and Weight Regain: Report From an American Diabetes Association Research Symposium. Diabetes. 2015. doi: 10.2337/db15-0004.

Hurwitz BE, Schneiderman N, Marks JB, Mendez AJ, Gonzalez A, Llabre MM, **Smith SR**, Bizzotto R, Santini E, Manca ML, Skyler JS, Mari A, Ferrannini E. Adaptation of β -Cell and Endothelial Function to Carbohydrate Loading: Influence of Insulin Resistance. Diabetes. 2015. doi: 10.2337/db15-0106.

Coué M, Badin PM, Vila IK, Laurens C, Louche K, Marquès MA, Bourlier V, Mouisel E, Tavernier G, Rustan AC, Galgani JE, Joanisse DR, **Smith SR**, Langin D, Moro C. Defective Natriuretic Peptide Receptor Signaling in Skeletal Muscle Links Obesity to Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes. doi: 10.2337/db15-0305.

Covington JD, Myland CK, Rustan AC, Ravussin E, **Smith SR**, Bajpeyi S. Effect of serial cell passaging in the retention of fiber type and mitochondrial content in primary human myotubes. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2015. doi: 10.1002/oby.21192.

Khan IM, Perrard XYD, Brunner G, Lui H, **Sparks LM**, **Smith SR**, Wang X, Shi ZZ, Lewis DE, Wu H, Ballantyne CM. Intermuscular and perimuscular fat expansion in obesity correlates with skeletal muscle T cell and macrophage infiltration and insulin resistance. International Journal of Obesity. 2015. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2015.104.

2016

Coen PM, Goodpaster BH. A role for exercise after bariatric surgery? Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2016. doi: 10.1111/dom.12545.

Pratley RE. Should GLP-1 Receptor Agonists Be the First Line of Treatment for Type 2 Diabetes?. Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics. 2016. doi: 10.1089/dia.2016.0339.

Seyhan AA. A multiplexed miRNA and transgene expression platform for simultaneous repression and expression of protein coding sequences. Molecular Biosystems. 2016. doi: 10.1039/c5mb00506j.

Seyhan AA, Nunez Lopez YO, Xie H, Yi F, Mathews C, Pasarica M, Pratley RE. Pancreas-enriched miRNAs are altered in the circulation of subjects with diabetes: a pilot cross-sectional study. Scientific Reports. 2016. doi: 10.1038/srep31479.

Sparks LM, Redman LM, Conley KE, Harper ME, Hodges A, Eroshkin A, Costford SR, Gabriel ME, Yi F, Shook C, Cornnell HH, Ravussin E, Smith SR. Differences in

Mitochondrial Coupling Reveal a Novel Signature of Mitohormesis in Muscle of Healthy Individuals. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2016. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-2742.

Sparks LM, Gemmink A, Phielix E, Bosma M, Schaart G, Moonen-Kornips E, Jorgensen JA, Nascimento EBM, Hesselink MKC, Schrauwen P, Hoeks J. ANT1-mediated fatty acid-induced uncoupling as a target for improving myocellular insulin. Diabetologia. 2016. doi: 10.1007/s00125-016-3885-8.

Santanasto AJ, **Coen PM**, Glynn NW, Conley KE, Jubrias SA, Amati F, Strotmeyer ES, Boudreau RM, **Goodpaster BH**, Newman AB. The relationship between mitochondrial function and walking performance in older adults with a wide range of physical function. Experimental Gerontology. 2016. Doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2016.04.002.

Hames KC, **Coen PM**, King WC, Anthony SJ, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, Lowery JB, Helbling NL, Dube JJ, **DeLany JP**, Jakicic JM, **Goodpaster BH**. Resting and exercise energy metabolism in weight-reduced adults with severe obesity. Obesity. 2016. doi: 10.1002/oby.21501.

Fabbri, E, Yang A, Simonsick EM, Chia CW, Zoli M, Haughey NJ, Mielke MM, Ferrucci L, **Coen, PM**. Circulating ceramides are inversely associated with cardiorespiratory fitness in participants aged 54-96 years from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Aging Cell. 2016. doi: 10.1111/acel.12491.

Smith KR, Hussain T, Karimian Azari E, Steiner JL, Ayala JE, **Pratley RE, Kyriazis GA**. Disruption of the sugar-sensing receptor T1R2 attenuates metabolic derangements associated with diet-induced obesity. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2016. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00484.2015.

Tharp WG, Gupta D, Smith J, Jones KP, Jones AM, **Pratley RE**. Effects of glucose and insulin on secretion of amyloid- β by human adipose tissue cells. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2016. doi: 10.1002/oby.21494.

Gilbert MP, Marre M, Holst JJ, Garber A, Baeres FM, Thomsen H, **Pratley RE**. Comparison Of The Long-Term Effects Of Liraglutide And Glimepiride Monotherapy On Bone Mineral Density In Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Endocrine Practice. 2016. doi: 10.4158/EP15758.OR.

Kovacova Z, Tharp WG, Liu D, Wei W, Xie H, Collins S, **Pratley RE**. Adipose tissue natriuretic peptide receptor expression is related to insulin sensitivity in obesity and diabetes. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2016. doi: 10.1002/oby.21418.

Nissen SE, Wolski KE, Prcela L, Wadden T, Buse JB, Bakris G, Perez A, **Smith SR**. Effect of Naltrexone-Bupropion on Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events in Overweight and Obese Patients With Cardiovascular Risk Factors: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.1558.

Bray GA, Redman LM, de Jonge L, Rood J, **Smith SR**. Effect of Three Levels of Dietary Protein on Metabolic Phenotype of Healthy Individuals With 8 Weeks of Overfeeding. Journal of Clinical endocrinology & Metabolism. 2016. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1313.

Pino MF, Parsons SA, **Smith SR**, **Sparks LM**. Active Individuals have High Mitochondrial Content and Oxidative Markers in Their Abdominal Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue. Obesity. 2016. doi: 10.1002/oby.21669.

Grosicki GJ, Standley RA, Murach KA, Raue U, Minchev K, **Coen PM**, Newman AB, Cummings S, Harris T, Kritchevsky S, **Goodpaster BH**, Trappe S. Improved single muscle fiber quality in the oldest-old. Journal of Applied Physiology. 2016. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00479.2016.

Wolk R, Bertolet M, Brooks MM, **Pratley RE**, Sobel BE, Frye RL, Singh P, Calvin AD, Rutter MK, Mooradian AD, Somers VK. Differential effects of insulin sensitization and insulin provision treatment strategies on concentrations of circulating adipokines in patients with diabetes and coronary artery disease in the BARI 2D trial. European Journal of Preventive Cardiology. 2016. doi: 10.1177/2047487314544046.

Weinstock RS, DuBose SN, Bergenstal RM, Chaytor NS, Peterson C, Olson BA, Munshi MN, Perrin AJ, Miller KM, Beck RW, Liljenquist DR, Aleppo G, Buse JB, Kruger D, Bhargava A, Goland RS, Edelen RC, **Pratley RE**, Peters AL, Rodriguez H, Ahmann AJ, Lock JP, Garg SK, Rickels MR, Hirsch IB. Risk Factors Associated With Severe Hypoglycemia in Older Adults With Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2016. doi: 10.2337/dc15-1426.

Wolk R, Bertolet M, Singh P, Brooks MM, **Pratley RE**, Frye RL, Mooradian AD, Rutter MK, Calvin AD, Chaitman BR, Somers VK. Prognostic Value of Adipokines in Predicting Cardiovascular Outcome: Explaining the Obesity Paradox. Mayo Clinic Proceedings. 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2016.03.020.

Marso SP, McGuire DK, Zinman B, Poulter NR, Emerson SS, Pieber TR, **Pratley RE**, Haahr PM, Lange M, Frandsen KB, Rabøl R, Buse JB. Design of DEVOTE (Trial Comparing Cardiovascular Safety of Insulin Degludec vs Insulin Glargine in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes at High Risk of Cardiovascular Events) - DEVOTE 1. American Heart Journal. 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2016.06.004.

Inzucchi SE, Viscoli CM, Young LH, Furie KL, Gorman M, Lovejoy AM, Dagogo-Jack S, Ismail-Beigi F, Korytkowski MT, **Pratley RE**, Schwartz GG, Kernan WN. Pioglitazone Prevents Diabetes in Patients with Insulin Resistance and Cerebrovascular Disease. Diabetes Care. 2016. doi: 10.2337/dc16-0798. Satman I, R Rea R, Eriksson M, Mosenzon O, **Pratley R**, M Baeres F, D Ørsted D, F Mann J. LEADER-6: Baseline renal function and associated factors in a high cardiovascular risk type 2 diabetes population. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications. 2016. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2016.06.001.

Liang X, Liu L, Fu T, Zhou Q, Zhou D, Xiao L, Liu J, Kong Y, Xie H, Yi F, Lai L, Vega RB, Kelly DP, **Smith SR**, Gan Z. Exercise Inducible Lactate Dehydrogenase B Regulates Mitochondrial Function in Skeletal Muscle. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 2016. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.749424.

Villareal DT, Fontana L, Das SK, Redman L, **Smith SR**, Saltzman E, Bales C, Rochon J, Pieper C, Huang M, Lewis M, Schwartz AV, Group CS. Effect of Two-Year Caloric Restriction on Bone Metabolism and Bone Mineral Density in Non-Obese Younger Adults: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Journal of Bone and Mineral Research. 2016. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.2701.

Hall KD, Chen KY, Guo J, Lam YY, Leibel RL, Mayer LE, Reitman ML, Rosenbaum M, **Smith SR**, Walsh BT, Ravussin E. Energy expenditure and body composition changes after an isocaloric ketogenic diet in overweight and obese men. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.133561.

Karastergiou K, Bredella MA, Lee MJ, **Smith SR**, Fried SK, Miller KK. Growth hormone receptor expression in human gluteal versus abdominal subcutaneous adipose tissue: Association with body shape. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2016. doi: 10.1002/oby.21460.

Lee MJ, Yang RZ, Karastergiou K, **Smith SR**, Chang JR, Gong DW, Fried SK. Low expression of the GILZ may contribute to adipose inflammation and altered adipokine production in human obesity. Journal of Lipid Research. 2016. doi: 10.1194/jlr. M067728.

Sutton EF, Bray GA, Burton JH, **Smith SR**, Redman LM. No evidence for metabolic adaptation in thermic effect of food by dietary protein. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2016. doi: 10.1002/oby.21541.

Fontana L, Villareal DT, Das SK, **Smith SR**, Meydani SN, Pittas AG, Klein S, Bhapkar M, Rochon J, Ravussin E, Holloszy JO, Group CS. Effects of 2-year calorie restriction on circulating levels of IGF-1, IGF-binding proteins and cortisol in nonobese men and women: a randomized clinical trial. Aging Cell. 2016. doi: 10.1111/acel.12400.

Zhang Z, Turer E, Li XH, Zhan XM, Choi MW, Tang M, Press A, **Smith SR**, Divoux A, Moresco EMY, Beutler B. Insulin resistance and diabetes caused by genetic or dietinduced KBTBD2 deficiency in mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2016. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614467113.

Hall KD, Chen KY, Guo J, Leibel RL, Mayer LES, Reitman ML, Rosenbaum M, **Smith SR**, Walsh BT, Ravussin E. Raising the bar on the low-carbohydrate diet. Reply. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2016. Doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.143628.

Ma W, Huang T, Wang M, Zheng Y, Wang T, Heianza Y, Sun D, **Smith SR**, Bray GA, Sacks FM, Qi L. Two-year changes in circulating adiponectin, ectopic fat distribution and body composition in response to weight-loss diets: the POUNDS Lost Trial. International Journal of Obesity. 2016. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2016.128.

Heianza Y, Ma W, Huang T, Wang T, Zheng Y, **Smith SR**, et al. Macronutrient Intake-Associated FGF21 Genotype Modifies Effects of Weight-Loss Diets on 2-Year Changes of Central Adiposity and Body Composition: The POUNDS Lost Trial. Diabetes Care. 2016. doi: 10.2337/dc16-1111.2017

2017

Goodpaster BH, Sparks LM. Metabolic Flexibility in Health and Disease. Cell Metabolism. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.04.015.

Pratley RE, Cersosimo E. Use of Canagliflozin in Combination With and Compared to Incretin-Based Therapies in Type 2 Diabetes. Clinical Diabetes. 2017. doi: 10.2337/cd16-0063.

Smith SR, Garvey WT, Greenway FL, Zhou S, Fain R, Pilson R, et al. Coadministration of lorcaserin and phentermine for weight management: A 12-week, randomized, pilot safety study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2017. doi: 10.1002/oby.21811.

Sparks LM. Exercise training response heterogeneity: physiological and molecular insights. Diabetologia. 2017. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4461-6.

Sparks, LM, Redman LM, Conley KE, Harper ME, Yi FC, Hodges A, Eroshkin A, Costford SR, Gabriel ME, Shook C, Cornnell HH, Ravussin E, **Smith SR**. Effects of 12 Months of Caloric Restriction on Muscle Mitochondrial Function in Healthy Individuals. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2017. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-3211.

Lopez YON, **Coen PM**, **Goodpaster BH**, **Seyhan AA**. Gastric bypass surgery with exercise alters plasma microRNAs that predict improvements in cardiometabolic risk. International Journal of Obesity. 2017. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.84.

Driscoll KA, **Corbin KD**, Maahs DM, **Pratley R**, Bishop FK, Kahkoska A, Hood KK, Mayer-Davis E. Biopsychosocial Aspects of Weight Management in Type 1 Diabetes: A Review and Next Steps. Current Diabetes Reports. 2017. doi: 10.1007/s11892-017-0892-1.

Santanasto AJ, **Goodpaster BH**, Kritchevsky SB, Miljkovic I, Satterfield S, Schwartz AV, Cummings SR, Boudreau RM, Harris TB, Newman AB. Body Composition Remodeling and Mortality: The Health Aging and Body Composition Study. Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2017. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw163.

Gemmink A, **Goodpaster BH**, Schrauwen P, Hesselink, MKC. Intramyocellular lipid droplets and insulin sensitivity, the human perspective. Biochimica Biophysica ACTA-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2017.07.010.

Weissman NJ, **Smith SR**, Fain R, Hall N, Shanahan WR. Effects of lorcaserin on preexisting valvulopathy: A pooled analysis of phase 3 trials. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2017. doi: 10.1002/oby.21695.

Alman AC, **Smith SR**, Eckel RH, Hokanson JE, Burkhardt BR, Sudini PR, et al. (2017) The ratio of pericardial to subcutaneous adipose tissues is associated with insulin resistance. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2017. doi: 10.1002/oby.21875.

Wefers JF, Woodlief TL, Carnero EA, Helbling NL, Anthony SJ, Dubis GS, Jakicic JM, Houmard JA, **Goodpaster BH, Coen PM**. Relationship among physical activity, sedentary behaviors, and cardiometabolic risk factors during gastric bypass surgeryinduced weight loss. Surgery for Obesity and Related Diseases. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j. soard.2016.08.493.

Brown P, Badreddine D, Roose SP, Rutherford B, Ayonayon HN, Yaffe K, Simonsick EM, **Goodpaster B**. Muscle fatigability and depressive symptoms in later life. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2017. doi: 10.1002/qps.4678.

Standley RA, Distefano G, Pereira SL, Tian M, Kelly OJ, **Coen PM**, Deutz NEP, Wolfe RR, **Goodpaster BH**. Effects of beta-hydroxy-beta-methylbutyrate on skeletal muscle mitochondrial content and dynamics, and lipids after 10 days of bed rest in older adults. Journal of Applied Physiology. 2017. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00192.2017.

Karimian Azari E, Smith KR, Yi F, Osborne TF, Bizzotto R, Mari A, **Pratley RE, Kyriazis GA**. Inhibition of sweet chemosensory receptors alters insulin responses during glucose ingestion in healthy adults: a randomized crossover interventional study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2017. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.146001.

Chakravarthy M, Parsons S, Lassman ME, Butterfield K, Lee AYH, Chen Y, Previs S, Spond J, Yang S, Bock C, Yi FC, Moon J, Wohlers-Kariesch E, **Smith SR**, Meyer C. Effects of 13-Hour Hyperglucagonemia on Energy Expenditure and Hepatic Glucose Production in Humans. Diabetes. 2017. doi: 10.2337/db16-0746.

Pachori AS, Madan M, Lopez YON, Yi F, Meyer C, **Seyhan AA**. Reduced Skeletal Muscle Secreted Frizzled-Related Protein 3 is Associated with Inflammation and Insulin Resistance. Obesity. 2017. doi: 10.1002/oby.21787.

Nunez Lopez YO, Pittas AG, **Pratley RE, Seyhan AA**. Circulating levels of miR-7, miR-152 and miR-192 respond to vitamin D supplementation in adults with prediabetes and correlate with improvements in glycemic control. Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2017.08.007.

Lopez YON, Garufi G, **Seyhan AA**. Altered levels of circulating cytokines and microRNAs in lean and obese individuals with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes. Molecular Biosystems. 2017. doi: 10.1039/c6mb00596a.

Divoux A, Xie H, Li JL, Karastergiou K, Perera RJ, Chang RJ, Fried SK, **Smith SR**. MicroRNA-196 Regulates HOX Gene Expression in Human Gluteal Adipose Tissue. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2017. doi: 10.1002/oby.21896.

Bajpeyi S, Pasarica M, Conley KE, Newcomer BR, Jubrias SA, Gamboa C , Murray K, Sereda O, **Sparks LM**, **Smith SR**. Pioglitazone-induced improvements in insulin sensitivity occur without concomitant changes in muscle mitochondrial function. Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2016.11.016.

Pino MF, Divoux A, Simmonds AV, **Smith SR, Sparks LM**. Investigating the effects of Orexin-A on thermogenesis in human deep neck brown adipose tissue. International Journal of Obesity. 2017. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2017.155.

Pesta DH, Goncalves RLS, Madiraju AK, Strasser B, **Sparks LM**. Resistance training to improve type 2 diabetes: working toward a prescription for the future. Nutrition & Metabolism. 2017. doi: 10.1186/s12986-017-0173-7.

Lee S, Leone TC, Rogosa L, Rumsey J, Ayala J, **Coen PM**, Fitts RH, Vega RB, Kelly DP. Skeletal muscle PGC-1 beta signaling is sufficient to drive an endurance exercise phenotype and to counteract components of detraining in mice. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2017. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00380.2016.

Covington JD, Johannsen DL, **Coen PM**, Burk DH, Obanda DN, Ebenezer PJ, Tam CS, **Goodpaster BH**, Ravussin E, Bajpeyi S. Intramyocellular Lipid Droplet Size Rather Than Total Lipid Content is Related to Insulin Sensitivity After 8 Weeks of Overfeeding. Obesity. 2017. doi: 10.1002/oby.21980.

Gusdo, AM, Callio J, Distefano G, O'Doherty RM, **Goodpaster BH, Coen PM**, Chu CT. Exercise increases mitochondrial complex I activity and DRP1 expression in the brains of aged mice. Experimental Gerontology. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.01.013.

Gillingham MB, Heitner SB, Martin J, Rose S, Goldstein A, El-Gharbawy AH, Deward S, Lasarev MR, Pollaro J, **DeLany JP**, Burchill LJ, Goodpaster B, Shoemaker J, Matern D, Harding CO, Vockley J. Triheptanoin versus trioctanoin for long-chain fatty acid oxidation disorders: a double blinded, randomized controlled trial. Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease. 2017. doi: 10.1007/s10545-017-0085-8.

Hughan KS, Wendell SG, Delmastro-Greenwood M, Helbling N, Corey C, Bellavia L, Potti G, Grimes G, **Goodpaster B**, Kim-Shapiro DB, Shiva S, Freeman BA, Gladwin MT. Conjugated Linoleic Acid Modulates Clinical Responses to Oral Nitrite and Nitrate. Hypertension. 2017. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.09016.

Santanasto AJ, Glynn NW, Lovato LC, Blair SN, Fielding RA, Gill TM, Guralnik JM, Hsu FC, King AC, Strotmeyer ES, Manini TM, Marsh AP, McDermott MM, **Goodpaster BH**, Pahor M, Newman AB. Effect of Physical Activity versus Health Education on Physical Function, Grip Strength and Mobility. Journal of the American Geriatric Society. 2017. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14804.

Roshanravan B, Patel KV, Fried LF, Robinson-Cohen C, de Boer IH, Harris T, Murphy RA, Satterfield S, **Goodpaster BH**, Shlipak M, Newman AB, Kestenbaum B. Association of Muscle Endurance, Fatigability, and Strength With Functional Limitation and Mortality in the Health Aging and Body Composition Study. Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2017. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw210.

Min H, Kim J, Kim YJ, Yoon MS, **Pratley RE**, Lee YH. Measurement of altered APP isoform expression in adipose tissue of diet-induced obese mice by absolute quantitative real-time PCR. Animals Cells and Systems (Seoul). 2017. doi: 10.1080/19768354.2017.1290679.

Inzucchi SE, Viscoli CM, Young LH, Furie KL, Gorman M, Lovejoy AM, Dagogo-Jack S, Ismail-Beigi F, Korytkowski MT, **Pratley RE**, Schwartz GG, Kernan WN. Response to Comment on Inzucchi et al. Pioglitazone Prevents Diabetes in Patients With Insulin Resistance and Cerebrovascular Disease. Diabetes Care. 2016. doi: 10.2337/dci16-0048.

Khalid S, Bilal A, Asad-Ur-Rahman FNU, **Pratley R**. Postgastric bypass hypoglycaemia in a patient with end-stage renal disease: a diagnostic and management pitfall. BMJ Case Reports. 2017. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2017-220600.

Marso SP, McGuire DK, Zinman B, Poulter NR, Emerson SS, Pieber TR, **Pratley RE**, Haahr PM, Lange M, Brown-Frandsen K, Moses A, Skibsted S, Kvist K, Buse JB. Efficacy and Safety of Degludec versus Glargine in Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2017. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1615692.

Dmytro Shumilov, Steven B Heymsfield, Leanne M Redman, **Smith SR**, George A Bray, Kesava Kalluri, Joyoni Dey. New compartment model analysis of lean-mass and fatmass growth with overfeeding. Nutrition. 2017. Doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.07.002.

Welch RD, Guo C, Sengupta M, Carpenter KJ, Stephens NA, Arnett SA, Meyers MJ, Sparks LM, Smith SR, Zhang JS, Burris TP, Flaveny CA. Rev-Erb co-regulates muscle regeneration via tethered interaction with the NF-Y cistrome. Molecular Metabolism. 2017. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2017.05.001.

2018

Brouwers B, Stephens NA, Costford SR, Hopf ME, Ayala JE, Yi FC, Xie H, Li JL, Gardell SJ, Sparks LM, Smith SR. Elevated Nicotinamide Phosphoribosyl Transferase in Skeletal Muscle Augments Exercise Performance and Mitochondrial Respiratory Capacity Following Exercise Training. Frontiers in Physiology. 2018. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2018.00704.

Coen PM, Carnero EA, **Goodpaster BH**. Exercise and Bariatric Surgery: An Effective Therapeutic Strategy. Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews. 2018. doi: 10.1249/ JES.00000000000168.

Corbin KD, Driscoll KA, Pratley RE, Smith SR, Maahs DM, Mayer-Davis EJ. Obesity in Type 1 Diabetes: Pathophysiology, Clinical Impact, and Mechanisms. Endocrine Review. 2018. doi: 10.1210/er.2017-00191.

Pratley RE, Aroda VR, Lingvay I, Lüdemann J, Andreassen C, Navarria A, Viljoen A. Semaglutide versus dulaglutide once weekly in patients with type 2 diabetes (SUSTAIN 7): a randomised, open-label, phase 3b trial. Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2018. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(18)30024-X.

Pratley RE. Implications of cardiovascular outcome trials with injectable antidiabetic agents. Journal of Diabetes. 2018. doi: 10.1111/1753-0407.12792.

Pratley RE, Eldor R, Raji A, Golm G, Huyck SB, Qiu Y, Sunga S, Johnson J, Terra SG, Mancuso JP, Engel SS, Lauring B. Ertugliflozin plus sitagliptin versus either individual agent over 52 weeks in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus inadequately controlled with metformin: The VERTIS FACTORIAL randomized trial. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1111/dom.13194.

Pratley RE, Rosenstock J, Heller SR, Sinclair A, Heine RJ, Kiljański J, Brusko CS, Duan R, Festa A. Reduced Glucose Variability With Glucose-Dependent Versus Glucose-Independent Therapies Despite Similar Glucose Control and Hypoglycemia Rates in a Randomized, Controlled Study of Older Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology. 2018. doi: 10.1177/1932296818776993.

Stephens NA, **Brouwers B**, Eroshkin AM, Yi F, Cornnell HH, Meyer C, **Goodpaster BH**, **Pratley RE**, **Smith SR**, **Sparks LM**. Exercise Response Variations in Skeletal Muscle PCr Recovery Rate and Insulin Sensitivity Relate to Muscle Epigenomic Profiles in Individuals With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2018. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0296.

Costford SR, **Brouwers B**, Hopf ME, **Sparks LM**, Dispagna M, Gomes AP, Cornnell HH, Petucci C, Phelan P, Xie H, Yi F, Walter GA, Osborne TF, Sinclair DA, Mynatt RL, Ayala JE, Gardell SJ, **Smith SR**. Skeletal muscle overexpression of nicotinamide phosphoribosyl transferase in mice coupled with voluntary exercise augments exercise endurance. Molecular Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2017.10.012.

Distefano G, **Goodpaster BH**. Effects of Exercise and Aging on Skeletal Muscle. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine. 2018. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a029785.

Forman DE, **Goodpaster BH**. Weighty Matters in HFpEF and Aging. JACC-Hearth Failure. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.jchf.2018.06.016.

LeBlanc ES, **Pratley RE**, Dawson-Hughes B, Staten MA, Sheehan PR, Lewis MR, Peters A, Kim SH, Chatterjee R, Aroda VR, Chadha C, Neff LM, Brodsky IG, Rosen C, Desouza CV, Foreyt JP, Hsia DS, Johnson KC, Raskin P, Kashyap SR, O'Neil P, Phillips LS, Rasouli N, Liao EP, Robbins DC, Pittas AG. Baseline Characteristics of the Vitamin D and Type 2 Diabetes (D2d) Study: A Contemporary Prediabetes Cohort That Will Inform Diabetes Prevention Efforts. Diabetes Care. 2018. doi: 10.2337/dc18-0240.

Heller SR, **Pratley RE**, Sinclair A, Festa A, Kiljański J, Brusko CS, Duan R, Heine RJ. Glycaemic outcomes of an Individualized treatMent aPproach for oldER vulnerable patlents: A randomized, controlled stUdy in type 2 diabetes Mellitus (IMPERIUM). Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1111/dom.13051.

Bilal A, **Pratley RE**. Cardiovascular Outcomes Trials Update: Insights from the DEVOTE Trial. Current Diabetes Report. 2018. doi: 10.1007/s11892-018-1086-1.

Redman LM, **Smith SR**, Burton JH, Martin CK, Il'yasova D, Ravussin E. Metabolic Slowing and Reduced Oxidative Damage with Sustained Caloric Restriction Support the Rate of Living and Oxidative Damage Theories of Aging. Cell Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.02.019.

Nascimento EBM, **Sparks LM**, Divoux A, van Gisbergen MW, Broeders EPM, Jorgensen JA, Schaart G, Bouvy ND, Lichtenbelt WDV, Schrauwen P. Genetic Markers of Brown Adipose Tissue Identity and In Vitro Brown Adipose Tissue Activity in Humans. Obesity. 2018. doi: 10.1002/oby.22062.

Distefano G, Standley RA, Zhang XL, Carnero EA, Yi F, Cornnell HH, **Coen PM**. Physical activity unveils the relationship between mitochondrial energetics, muscle quality, and physical function in older adults. Journal of Cachexia Sarcopenia and Muscle. 2018. doi: 10.1002/icsm.12272.

Zhang XL, Trevino MB, Wang M, Gardell SJ, Ayala JE, Han XL, Kelly DP, Goodpaster BH, Vega RB, Coen PM. Impaired Mitochondrial Energetics Characterize Poor Early Recovery of Muscle Mass Following Hind Limb Unloading in Old Mice. Journal of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2018. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gly051.

Menshikova EV, Ritov VB, Dube JJ, Amati F, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, **Coen PM**, **Goodpaster BH**. Calorie Restriction-induced Weight Loss and Exercise Have Differential Effects on Skeletal Muscle Mitochondria Despite Similar Effects on Insulin Sensitivity. Journal of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2018. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw328.

Smith K, Karimian Azari E, LaMoia TE, Hussain T, Vargova V, Karolyi K, Veldhuis PP, Arnoletti JP, de la Fuente SG, **Pratley RE**, Osborne TF, **Kyriazis GA**. 11R2 receptormediated glucose sensing in the upper intestine potentiates glucose absorption through activation of local regulatory pathways. Molecular Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2018.08.009.

Dittus KL, Harvey JR, Bunn JY, Kokinda ND, Wilson KM, Priest J, **Pratley RE**. Impact of a behaviorally-based weight loss intervention on parameters of insulin resistance in breast cancer survivors. BMC Cancer. 2018. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4272-2.

Dhatariya K, Bain SC, Buse JB, Simpson R, Tarnow L, Kaltoft MS, Stellfeld M, Tornøe K, **Pratley RE**. The Impact of Liraglutide on Diabetes-Related Foot Ulceration and Associated Complications in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes at High Risk for Cardiovascular Events: Results From the LEADER Trial. Diabetes Care. 2018. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1094.

Adeline Divoux, Katalin Sandor, Dora Bojcsuk, Amlan Talukder, Xiaoman Li, Balint L Balint, Timothy F Osborne, **Smith SR**. Differential open chromatin profile and transcriptomic signature define depot-specific human subcutaneous preadipocytes: primary outcomes. Clinical Epigenetics. 2018. doi: 10.1186/s13148-018-0582-0.

Porksen NK, Linnebjerg H, Lam ECQ, Garhyan P, Pachori A, **Pratley RE, Smith SR**. Basal insulin peglispro increases lipid oxidation, metabolic flexibility, thermogenesis and ketone bodies compared to insulin glargine in subjects with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1111/dom.13215.

Bray GA, Redman LM, de Jonge L, Rood J, Sutton EF, **Smith SR**. Plasma fatty acylcarnitines during 8Weeks of overfeeding: relation to diet energy expenditure and body composition: the PROOF study. Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2018.01.019.

Bray GA, Redman LM, de Jonge L, Rood J, Sutton EF, **Smith SR**. Plasma Amino Acids During 8 Weeks of Overfeeding: Relation to Diet Body Composition and Fat Cell Size in the PROOF Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2018. doi: 10.1002/oby.22087.

Gemmink A, Daemen S, **Brouwers B**, Huntjens PR, Schaart G, Moonen-Kornips E, Jorgensen J, Hoeks , Schrauwen P, Hesselink MKC. Dissociation of intramyocellular lipid storage and insulin resistance in trained athletes and type 2 diabetes patients; involvement of perilipin 5? Journal of Physiology-London. 2018. doi: 10.1113/JP275182.

Gonzalez-Freire M, Scalzo P, D'Agostino J, Moore ZA, Diaz-Ruiz A, Fabbri E, Zane A, Chen B, Becker KG, Lehrmann E, Zukley L, Chia CW, Tanaka T, **Coen PM**, Bernier M, de Cabo R, Ferrucci L. Skeletal muscle ex vivo mitochondrial respiration parallels decline in vivo oxidative capacity, cardiorespiratory fitness, and muscle strength: The Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Aging Cell. 2018. doi: 10.1111/acel.12725.

Patsalos A, Simandi Z, Hays TT, Peloquin M, Hajian M, Restrepo I, **Coen PM**, Russell AJ, Nagy L. In vivo GDF3 administration abrogates aging related muscle regeneration delay following acute sterile injury. Aging Cell. 2018. doi: 10.1111/acel.12815.

Stanford KI, Lynes MD, Takahashi H, Baer LA, Arts PJ, May FJ, Lehnig AC, Middelbeek RJW, Richard JJ, So K, Chen EY, Gao F, Narain NR, Distefano G, Shettigar VK, Hirshman MF, Ziolo MT, Kiebish MA, Tseng, YH, **Coen PM**, Goodyear LJ. 12,13-diHOME: An Exercise-Induced Lipokine that Increases Skeletal Muscle Fatty Acid Uptake. Cell Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.03.020.

Toled, FGS, Dube JJ, **Goodpaster BH**, Stefanovic-Racic M, **Coen PM**, **DeLany JP**, Mitochondrial Respiration is Associated with Lower Energy Expenditure and Lower Aerobic Capacity in African American Women. Obesity. 2018. doi: 10.1002/oby.22163.

Clark BC, Tavoian D, **Goodpaster BH**, Cawthon PM, Hansen RD, Manini TM. Comment on: "Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard" by Buckinx et al. Journal of Cachexia Sarcopenia and Muscle. 2018. doi: 10.1002/ jcsm.12372.

Toledo FGS, Johannsen DL, Covington JD, Bajpeyi S, **Goodpaster B**, Conley KE, Ravussin E. Impact of prolonged overfeeding on skeletal muscle mitochondria in healthy individuals. Diabetologia. 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4496-8.

Davidson LE, Yu W, **Goodpaster BH**, **DeLany JP**, Widen E, Lemos T, Strain GW, Pomp A, Courcoulas AP, Lin SS, Janumala I, Thornton JC, Gallagher D. Fat-Free Mass and Skeletal Muscle Mass Five Years After Bariatric Surgery. Obesity. 2018. doi: 10.1002/ oby.22190.

Prado CM, Purcell SA, Alish C, Pereira SL, Deutz NE, Heyland DK, **Goodpaster BH**, Tappenden KA, Heymsfield SB. Implications of low muscle mass across the continuum of care: a narrative review. Annals of Medicine. 2018. doi: 10.1080/07853890.2018.1511918.

Khoja SS, Moore CG, **Goodpaster BH**, Delitto A, Piva SR. Skeletal Muscle Fat and Its Association With Physical Function in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Care and Research. 2018. doi: 10.1002/acr.23278.

Purnell JQ, Johnson GS, Wahed AS, Dalla Man C, Piccinini F, Cobelli C, Prigeon RL, **Goodpaster BH**, Kelley DE, Staten MA, Foster-Schubert KE, Cummings DE, Flum DR, Courcoulas AP, Havel P, Wolfe BM. Prospective evaluation of insulin and incretin dynamics in obese adults with and without diabetes for 2 years after Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Diabetologia. 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00125-018-4553-y.

Pieber TR, Marso SP, McGuire DK, Zinman B, Poulter NR, Emerson SS, **Pratley RE**, Woo V, Heller S, Lange M, Brown-Frandsen K, Moses A, Barner Lekdorf J, Lehmann L, Kvist K, Buse JB. DEVOTE 3: temporal relationships between severe hypoglycaemia, cardiovascular outcomes and mortality. Diabetologia. 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4422-0.

Nunez Lopez YO, Messi ML, **Pratley RE**, Zhang T, Delbono O. Troponin T3 associates with DNA consensus sequence that overlaps with p53 binding motifs. Experimental Gerontology. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.03.012.

KM, Bradfield JP, Zhou K, Guy VC, Åkerlund M, Wod M, Fritsche LG, Vestergaard H, Snyder J, Højlund K, Linneberg A, Käräjämäki A, Brandslund I, Kim CE, Witte D, Sørgjerd EP, Brillon DJ, Pedersen O, Beck-Nielsen H, Grarup N, **Pratley RE**, Rickels MR, Vella A, Ovalle F, Melander O, Harris RI, Varvel S, Grill VER, Hakonarson H, Froguel P, Lonsdale JT, Mauricio D, Schloot NC, Khunti K, Greenbaum CJ, Åsvold BO, Yderstræde KB, Pearson ER, Schwartz S, Voight BF, Hansen T, Tuomi T, Boehm BO, Groop L, Leslie RD, Grant SFA. First Genome-Wide Association Study of Latent Autoimmune Diabetes in Adults Reveals Novel Insights Linking Immune and Metabolic Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2018. doi: 10.2337/dc18-1032.

Verma S, Bhatt DL, Bain SC, Buse JB, Mann JFE, Marso SP, Nauck MA, Poulter NR, Pratley RE, Zinman B, Michelsen MM, Monk Fries T, Rasmussen S, Leiter LA. Effect of Liraglutide on Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Polyvascular Disease: Results of the LEADER Trial. Circulation. 2018. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.118.033898.

Zinman B, Marso SP, Poulter NR, Emerson SS, Pieber TR, **Pratley RE**, Lange M, Brown-Frandsen K, Moses A, Ocampo Francisco AM, Barner Lekdorf J, Kvist K, Buse JB. Day-to-day fasting glycaemic variability in DEVOTE: associations with severe hypoglycaemia and cardiovascular outcomes (DEVOTE 2). Diabetologia. 2018. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4423-z.

Verma S, Poulter NR, Bhatt DL, Bain SC, Buse JB, Leiter LA, Nauck MA, **Pratley RE**, Zinman B, Ørsted DD, Monk Fries T, Rasmussen S, Marso SP. Effects of Liraglutide on Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus With or Without History of Myocardial Infarction or Stroke. Circulation. 2018. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.118.034516.

Cannon CP, McGuire DK, **Pratley R**, Dagogo-Jack S, Mancuso J, Huyck S, Charbonnel B, Shih WJ, Gallo S, Masiukiewicz U, Golm G, Cosentino F, Lauring B, Terra SG. Design and baseline characteristics of the eValuation of ERTugliflozin efflcacy and Safety CardioVascular outcomes trial (VERTIS-CV). American Heart Journal. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2018.08.016.

David Arterburn, Robert Wellman, Ana Emiliano, **Smith SR**, Andrew O Odegaard, Sameer Murali, Neely Williams, Karen J Coleman, Anita Courcoulas, R Yates Coley, Jane Anau, Roy Pardee, Sengwee Toh, Cheri Janning, Andrea Cook, Jessica Sturtevant, Casie Horgan, Kathleen M McTigue. PCORnet Bariatric Study Collaborative Comparative Effectiveness and Safety of Bariatric Procedures for Weight Loss A PCORnet Cohort Study. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2018. doi: 10.7326/M17-2786.

Heianza Y, Sun D, **Smith SR**, Bray GA, Sacks FM, Qi L. Changes in Gut Microbiota-Related Metabolites and Long-term Successful Weight Loss in Response to Weight-Loss Diets: The POUNDS Lost Trial. Diabetes Care. 2018. doi: 10.2337/dc17-2108.

Erin A Bohula, Stephen D Wiviott, Darren K McGuire, Silvio E Inzucchi, Julia Kuder, KyungAh Im, Christina L Fanola, Arman Qamar, Conville Brown, Andrzej Budaj, Armando Garcia-Castillo, Milan Gupta, Lawrence A Leiter, Neil J Weissman, Harvey D White, Tushar Patel, Bruce Francis, Wenfeng Miao, Carlos Perdomo, Shobha Dhadda, Marc P Bonaca, Christian T Ruff, Anthony C Keech, **Smith SR**, Marc S Sabatine, Benjamin M Scirica, CAMELLIA–TIMI 61 Steering Committee and Investigators. Cardiovascular Safety of Lorcaserin in Overweight or Obese Patients. New England Journal of Medicine. 2018. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1808721.

Bohula EA, Scirica BM, Inzucchi SE, McGuire DK, Keech AC, **Smith SR**, Kanevsky E, Murphy SA, Leiter LA, Dwyer JP, Corbalan R, Hamm C, Kaplan L, Nicolau JC, Ophuis TO, Ray KK, Ruda M, Spinar J, Patel T, Miao WF, Perdomo C, Francis B, Dhadda S, Bonaca MP, Ruff CT, Sabatine MS, Wiviott SD. Effect of lorcaserin on prevention and remission of type 2 diabetes in overweight and obese patients (CAMELLIA-TIMI 61): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2018. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32328-6.

Erin A Bohula, Benjamin M Scirica, Christina Fanola, Silvio E Inzucchi, Anthony Keech, Darren K McGuire, **Smith SR**, Tim Abrahamsen, Bruce H Francis, Wenfeng Miao, Carlos A Perdomo, Andrew Satlin, Stephen D Wiviott, Marc S Sabatine. Design and rationale for the Cardiovascular and Metabolic Effects of Lorcaserin in Overweight and Obese Patients-Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction 61 (CAMELLIA-TIMI 61) trial. American Heart

Journal. 2018. doi: 10.1016/j.ahj.2018.03.012.

Bagchi RA, Ferguson BS, Stratton MS, Hu TJ, Cavasin MA, Sun L, Lin YH, Liu DX, Londono P, Song KH, Pino MF, **Sparks LM, Smith SR**, Scherer PE, Collins S, Seto E, McKinsey TA. HDAC11 suppresses the thermogenic program of adipose tissue via BRD2. JCI Insight. 2018. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.120159.

Dianjianyi Sun, Yoriko Heianza, Xiang Li, Xiaoyun Shang, **Smith SR**, George A Bray, Frank M Sacks, Lu Qi. Genetic, epigenetic and transcriptional variations at NFATC2IP locus with weight loss in response to diet interventions: The POUNDS Lost Trial. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1111/dom.13333.

Brouwers B, Schrauwen-Hinderling VB, Jelenik T, Gemmink A, **Sparks LM**, Havekes B, Bruls Y, Dahlmans D, Roden M, Hesselink MKC, Schrauwen P. Exercise training reduces intrahepatic lipid content in people with and people without nonalcoholic fatty liver. American Journal of Physiology-endocrinology and Metabolism. 2018. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00266.2017.

2019

Coen PM, Musci RV, Hinkley JM, Miller BF. Mitochondria as a Target for Mitigating Sarcopenia. Frontiers in Physiology. 2019. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018.01883.

Gardell SJ, Zhang XL, Kapoor N, Petucci C, Coen PM. Metabolomics Analyses of Muscle Atrophy Induced by Hind Limb Unloading. Metabolomics: Methods and Protocols. 2019. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9488-5_22.

Gardell SJ, Hopf M, Khan A, Dispagna M, Sessions EH, Falter R, Kapoor N, Brooks J, Culver J, Petucci C, Ma CT, Cohen SE, Tanaka J, Burgos ES, Hirschi JS, Smith SR, Sergienko E, Pinkerton AB. Boosting NAD(+) with a small molecule that activates NAMPT. Nature Communications. 2019. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11078-z.

Pratley RE, Husain M, Lingvay I, Pieber TR, Mark T, Saevereid HA, Møller DV, Zinman B. Heart failure with insulin degludec versus glargine U100 in patients with type 2 diabetes at high risk of cardiovascular disease: DEVOTE 14. Cardiovascular Diabetology. 2019. doi: 10.1186/s12933-019-0960-8.

Pratley RE, Emerson SS, Franek E, Gilbert MP, Marso SP, McGuire DK, Pieber TR, Zinman B, Hansen CT, Hansen MV, Mark T, Moses AC, Buse JB. Cardiovascular safety and lower severe hypoglycaemia of insulin degludec versus insulin glargine U100 in patients with type 2 diabetes aged 65 years or older: Results from DEVOTE (DEVOTE 7). Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1111/dom.13699.

Pratley RE, Amod A, Hoff ST, Kadowaki T, Lingvay I, Nauck M, Pedersen KB, Saugstrup T, Meier JJ. Oral semaglutide versus subcutaneous liraglutide and placebo in type 2 diabetes (PIONEER 4): a randomised, double-blind, phase 3a trial. Lancet. 2019. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31271-1.

Pratley RE, Kang J, Trautmann ME, Hompesch M, Han O, Stewart J, Sorli CH, Jacob S, Yoon KH. Body weight management and safety with efpeglenatide in adults without diabetes: A phase II randomized study. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1111/dom.13824.

Hinkley JM, **Coen PM**. Evolution of the Definition of Sarcopenia. Journal of Applied Physiology. 2019.

Markofski MM, **Coen PM**, Flynn MG. Chronic Exercise and Immunity. Lifestyle Medicine, 3rd Edition. 2019.

Rachakonda VP, **DeLany JP**, Kershaw EE, Behari J. Impact of Hepatic Steatosis on Resting Metabolic Rate and Metabolic Adaptation in Response to Intentional Weight Loss. Hepatology Communications. 2019. doi: 10.1002/hep4.1414.

Ross R, **Goodpaster BH**, Koch LG, Sarzynski MA, Kohrt WM, Johannsen NM, Skinner JS, Castro A, Irving BA, Noland RC, **Sparks LM**, Spielmann G, Day AG, Pitsch W, Hopkins WG, Bouchard C. Precision exercise medicine: understanding exercise response variability. British Journal of Sports Medicine. 2019. doi: 10.1136/ bjsports-2018-100328.

De Carvalho FG, **Sparks LM**. Targeting White Adipose Tissue with Exercise or Bariatric Surgery as Therapeutic Strategies in Obesity. Biology-Basel. 2019. doi: 10.3390/biology8010016.

Trevino MB, Zhang XL, Standley RA, Wang M, Han XL, Reis FCG, Periasamy M, Yu GX, Kelly DP, **Goodpaster BH**, Vega RB, **Coen PM**. Loss of mitochondrial energetics is associated with poor recovery of muscle function but not mass following disuse atrophy. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00161.2019.

Petucci C, Culver JA, Kapoor N, Sessions EH, Divlianska D, **Gardell SJ.** Measurement of Pyridine Nucleotides in Biological Samples Using LC-MS/MS. Metabolomics: Methods and Protocols. 2019. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-9488-5_7.

Del Parigi A, Tang W, Liu D, Lee C, **Pratley R**. Machine Learning to Identify Predictors of Glycemic Control in Type 2 Diabetes: An Analysis of Target HbA1c Reduction Using Empagliflozin/Linagliptin Data. Pharmaceutical Medicine. 2019. doi: 10.1007/s40290-019-00281-4.

Nunez Lopez YO, Retnakaran R, Zinman B, **Pratley RE, Seyhan AA**. Predicting and understanding the response to short-term intensive insulin therapy in people with early type 2 diabetes. Molecular Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.molmet.2018.11.003.

Pino MF, Stephens NA, Eroshkin AM, Yi F, Hodges A, Cornnell HH, **Pratley RE**, **Smith SR**, Wang M, Han X, **Coen PM**, **Goodpaster BH**, **Sparks LM**. Endurance

training remodels skeletal muscle phospholipid composition and increases intrinsic mitochondrial respiration in men with Type 2 diabetes. Physiological Genomics. 2019. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00014.2019.

De Carvalho FG, Justice JN, de Freitas EC, Kershaw EE, **Sparks LM**. Adipose Tissue Quality in Aging: How Structural and Functional Aspects of Adipose Tissue Impact Skeletal Muscle Quality. Nutrients. 2019. doi: 10.3390/nu11112553.

Fu CP, Ali H, Rachakonda VP, Oczypok EA, **DeLany JP**, Kershaw EE. The ZJU index is a powerful surrogate marker for NAFLD in severely obese North American women. PLoS One. 2019. Doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224942.

Fu CP, Ali H, Rachakonda VP, Oczypok EA, **DeLany JP**, Kershaw EE. The ZJU index is a powerful surrogate marker for NAFLD in severely obese North American women. PLoS One. 2019.

Hicks GE, Shardell MD, Miller RR, Eastlack M, Orwig DL, **Goodpaster BH**, Chomentowski PJ, Hochberg MC, Rathbun AM, Cauley JA, Harris T, Satterfield S, Schafer AL, Magaziner J. Trunk Muscle Composition 2 Months After Hip Fracture: Findings From the Baltimore Hip Studies. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2018.10.023.

Piva SR, Khoja SS, Toledo FGS, Chester-Wasko M, Fitzgerald GK, **Goodpaster BH**, Smith CN, Delitto A. Neuromuscular Electrical Stimulation Compared to Volitional Exercise for Improving Muscle Function in Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Randomized Pilot Study. Arthritis Care & Research. 2019. doi: 10.1002/acr.23602.

Jones TE, Pories WJ, Houmard JA, Tanner CJ, Zheng DH, Zou K, **Coen PM**, **Goodpaster BH**, Kraus WE, Dohm GL. Plasma lactate as a marker of metabolic health: Implications of elevated lactate for impairment of aerobic metabolism in the metabolic syndrome. Surgery. 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2019.04.017.

Gilbert MP, Bain SC, Franek E, Jodar-Gimeno E, Nauck MA, **Pratley R**, Réa RR, Kerr Saraiva JF, Rasmussen S, Tornøe K, von Scholten BJ, Buse JB. Effect of Liraglutide on Cardiovascular Outcomes in Elderly Patients: A Post Hoc Analysis of a Randomized Controlled Trial. Annals of Internal Medicine. 2019. doi: 10.7326/M18-1569.

Brown-Frandsen K, Emerson SS, McGuire DK, Pieber TR, Poulter NR, **Pratley RE**, Zinman B, Ranthe MF, Grøn R, Lange M, Moses AC, Örsy P, Buse JB. Lower rates of cardiovascular events and mortality associated with liraglutide use in patients treated with basal insulin: A DEVOTE subanalysis (DEVOTE 10). Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1111/dom.13677

Verma S, Bain SC, Monk Fries T, Mazer CD, Nauck MA, **Pratley RE**, Rasmussen S, Saevereid HA, Zinman B, Buse JB. Duration of diabetes and cardiorenal efficacy of liraglutide and semaglutide: A post hoc analysis of the LEADER and SUSTAIN 6 clinical trials. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1111/dom.13698.

Pittas AG, Dawson-Hughes B, Sheehan P, Ware JH, Knowler WC, Aroda VR, Brodsky I, Ceglia L, Chadha C, Chatterjee R, Desouza C, Dolor R, Foreyt J, Fuss P, Ghazi A, Hsia DS, Johnson KC, Kashyap SR, Kim S, LeBlanc ES, Lewis MR, Liao E, Neff LM, Nelson J, O'Neil P, Park J, Peters A, Phillips LS, **Pratley R**, Raskin P, Rasouli N, Robbins D, Rosen C, Vickery EM, Staten M. Vitamin D Supplementation and Prevention of Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2019. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1900906.

Mosenzon O, Blicher TM, Rosenlund S, Eriksson JW, Heller S, Hels OH, **Pratley R**, Sathyapalan T, Desouza C. Efficacy and safety of oral semaglutide in patients with type 2 diabetes and moderate renal impairment (PIONEER 5): a placebo-controlled, randomised, phase 3a trial. Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2019. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(19)30192-5.

Addala A, Igudesman D, Kahkoska AR, Muntis FR, Souris KJ, Whitaker KJ, **Pratley RE**, Mayer-Davis E. The interplay of type 1 diabetes and weight management: A qualitative study exploring thematic progression from adolescence to young adulthood. Pediatric Diabetes. 2019. doi: 10.1111/pedi.12903.

Tack CJ, Jacob S, Desouza C, Bain SC, Buse JB, Nauck MA, Petrie JR, Poulter NR, **Pratley RE**, Stegmann HVBK, Bosch-Traberg H, Startseva E, Zinman B. Long-term efficacy and safety of combined insulin and glucagon-like peptide-1 therapy: Evidence from the LEADER trial. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1111/dom.13826.

Johannsen DL, Marlatt KL, Conley KE, **Smith SR**, Ravussin E. Metabolic adaptation is not observed after 8 weeks of overfeeding, but energy expenditure variability is associated with weight recovery. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2019. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz108.

Scirica BM, Bohula EA, Dwyer JP, Qamar A, Inzucchi SE, McGuire DK, Keech AC, Smith SR, Murphy SA, Im K, Leiter LA, Gupta M, Patel T, Miao WF, Perdomo C, Bonaca MP, Ruff CT, Sabatine MS, Wiviott SD. Lorcaserin and Renal Outcomes in Obese and Overweight Patients in the CAMELLIA-TIMI 61 Trial. Circulation. 2019. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.118.038341.

Patel S, Alvarez-Guaita A, Melvin A, Rimmington D, Dattilo A, Miedzybrodzka EL, Cimino I, Roberts GP, Meek CL, Virtue S, **Sparks LM**, Parsons SA, Redman LM, Bray GA, Liou AP, Woods RM, Parry SA, Jeppesen PB, Kolnes AJ, Harding HP, Ron D, Vidal-Puig A, Reimann F, Gribble FM, Hulston CJ, Farooqi IS, Fafournoux P, **Smith SR**, Jensen J, Breen D, Wu ZD, Zhang BB, Coll AP, Savage DB, O'Rahilly S. GDF15 Provides an Endocrine Signal of Nutritional Stress in Mice and Humans. Cell Metabolism. 2019. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.12.016.

Hall KD, Guo J, Chen KY, Leibel RL, Reitman ML, Rosenbaum M, **Smith SR**, Ravussin E. Methodologic Considerations for Measuring Energy Expenditure Differences Between Diets Varying in Carbohydrate Using the Doubly Labeled Water Method. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2019. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqy390.

Rosenbaum M, Hall KD, Guo J, Ravussin E, Mayer LS, Reitman ML, **Smith SR**, Walsh, BT, Leibel RL. Glucose and Lipid Homeostasis and Inflammation in Humans Following an Isocaloric Ketogenic Diet. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2019. doi: 10.1002/oby.22468.

2020

Casu A, Kanapka LG, Foster NC, Hirsch IB, Laffel LM, Shah VN, DeSalvo DJ, Lyons SK, Vendrame F, Aleppo G, Mastrandrea LD, **Pratley RE**, Rickels MR, Peters AL. Characteristics of adult- compared to childhood-onset type 1 diabetes. Diabetic Medicine. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dme.14314.

Casu A, Bilal A, Pratley RE. Pharmacological therapies to address obesity in type 1 diabetes. Current Opinion in Endocrinology Diabetes and Obesity. 2020. doi: 10.1097/ MED.00000000000555.

Corbin KD, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Carnero EA, Bock C, Emerson R, Rittmann BE, Marcus AK, Davis T, Dirks B, Ilhan ZE, Champagne C, **Smith SR**. Integrative and quantitative bioenergetics: Design of a study to assess the impact of the gut microbiome on host energy balance. Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j. conctc.2020.100646.

Goodpaster BH. Rebuttal from Bret H. Goodpaster. Journal of Physiology-London. 2020. doi: 10.1113/JP279714.

Goodpaster BH. CrossTalk proposal: Intramuscular lipid accumulation causes insulin resistance. Journal of Physiology-London. 2020. doi: 10.1113/JP278219.

Pratley RE, Kanapka LG, Rickels MR, Ahmann A, Aleppo G, Beck R, Bhargava A, Bode BW, Carlson A, Chaytor NS, Fox DS, Goland R, Hirsch IB, Kruger D, Kudva YC, Levy C, McGill JB, Peters A, Philipson L, Philis-Tsimikas A, Pop-Busui R, Shah VN, Thompson M, Vendrame F, Verdejo A, Weinstock RS, Young L, Miller KM. Effect of Continuous Glucose Monitoring on Hypoglycemia in Older Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2020. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.6928.

Pratley R, Dagogo-Jack S, Charbonnel B, Patel S, Hickman A, Liu J, Tarasenko L, Pong A, Ellison MC, Huyck S, Gantz I, Terra SG. Efficacy and safety of ertugliflozin in older patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A pooled analysis of phase III studies. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14150.

Pratley R. Let's Be More Sensitive-How SGLT-2 Inhibitors and GLP-1 Receptor Agonists Affect β -Cell Function in Type 2 Diabetes. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa666.

Pratley RE, Aroda VR, Catarig AM, Lingvay I, Lüdemann J, Yildirim E, Viljoen A. Impact of patient characteristics on efficacy and safety of once-weekly semaglutide versus dulaglutide: SUSTAIN 7 post hoc analyses. BMJ Open. 2020. doi: 10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-037883.

Thethi TK, Pratley R, Meier JJ. Efficacy, safety and cardiovascular outcomes of oncedaily oral semaglutide in patients with type 2 diabetes: The PIONEER programme. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14054.

Thethi TK, Sigel A, Japa S, Katalenich B, Liu SQ, Nguyen T, Larrazolo J, Syu S, Carefoot E, McDuffie R, Fonseca V. Racial and sex differences in the polymorphisms of the endocannabinoid receptor genes in obesity. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2020.107682.

Hinkley JM, **Coen PM**. Muscle phosphorus metabolites in sarcopenia? Aging-US. 2020. doi: 10.18632/aging.104032.

Bergman BC, **Goodpaster BH**. Exercise and Muscle Lipid Content, Composition, and Localization: Influence on Muscle Insulin Sensitivity. Diabetes. 2020. doi: 10.2337/ dbi18-0042.

Gilbert MP, **Pratley RE**. GLP-1 Analogs and DPP-4 Inhibitors in Type 2 Diabetes Therapy: Review of Head-to-Head Clinical Trials. Frontiers in Endocrinology (Lausanne). 2020. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00178.

Cannon CP, **Pratley R**, Dagogo-Jack S, Mancuso J, Huyck S, Masiukiewicz U, Charbonnel B, Frederich R, Gallo S, Cosentino F, Shih WJ, Gantz I, Terra SG, Cherney DZI, McGuire DK. Cardiovascular Outcomes with Ertugliflozin in Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2020. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2004967.

Kong Y Chen, **Smith SR**, Eric Ravussin, Jonathan Krakoff, Guy Plasqui, Shigeho Tanaka, Peter Murgatroyd, Robert Brychta, Christopher Bock, Elvis Carnero, Paul Schoffelen, Yoichi Hatamoto, Corey Rynders, Edward L Melanson. Room Indirect

Calorimetry Operating and Reporting Standards (RICORS 1.0): A Guide to Conducting and Reporting Human Whole-Room Calorimeter Studies. Obesity. 2020. doi: 10.1002/ oby.22928.

Hinkley JM, Cornnell HH, Standley RA, Chen EY, Narain NR, Greenwood BP, Bussberg V, Tolstikov VV, Kiebish MA, Yi FH, Vega RB, **Goodpaster BH, Coen PM**. Older adults with sarcopenia have distinct skeletal muscle phosphodiester, phosphocreatine, and phospholipid profiles. Aging Cell. 2020. doi: 10.1111/acel.13135.

Heshka S, Lemos T, Astbury NM, Widen E, Davidson L, **Goodpaster BH**, **DeLany JP**, Strain GW, Pomp A, Courcoulas AP, Lin S, Janumala I, Yu W, Kang P, Thornton JC, Gallagher D. Resting Energy Expenditure and Organ-Tissue Body Composition 5 Years After Bariatric Surgery. Obesity Surgery. 2020. doi: 10.1007/s11695-019-04217-4.

Dube JJ, Collyer ML, Trant S, Toledo FGS, **Goodpaster BH**, Kershaw EE, **DeLany** JP. Decreased Mitochondrial Dynamics Is Associated with Insulin Resistance, Metabolic Rate, and Fitness in African Americans. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgz272.

Brennan AM, Standley RA, Yi FC, Carnero EA, **Sparks LM**, **Goodpaster BH**. Individual Response Variation in the Effects of Weight Loss and Exercise on Insulin Sensitivity and Cardiometabolic Risk in Older Adults. Frontiers in Endocrinology. 2020. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00632.

Standley RA, Distefano G, Trevino MB, Chen EM, Narain NR, Greenwood B, Kondakci G, Tolstikov VV, Kiebish MA, Yu GX, Qi F, Kelly DP, Vega RB, Coen PM, Goodpaster BH. Skeletal Muscle Energetics and Mitochondrial Function Are Impaired Following 10 Days of Bed Rest in Older Adults. Journal of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2020. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa001.

Tharp WG, Gupta D, Sideleva O, Deacon CF, Holst JJ, Elahi D, **Pratley RE**. Effects of Pioglitazone on Glucose Dependent Insulinotropic Polypeptide Mediated Insulin Secretion and Adipocyte Receptor Expression in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes. 2020. doi: 10.2337/db18-1163.

Divoux A, Sandor K, Bojcsuk D, Yi FC, Hopf ME, Smith JS, Balint BL, Osborne TF, **Smith SR**. Fat Distribution in Women Is Associated with Depot-Specific Transcriptomic Signatures and Chromatin Structure. Journal of the Endocrine Society. 2020. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvaa042.

Vega RB, **Brouwers B**, Parsons SA, Stephens NA, Pino MF, Hodges A, Yi F, Yu G, **Pratley RE, Smith SR, Sparks LM**. An improvement in skeletal muscle mitochondrial capacity with short-term aerobic training is associated with changes in Tribbles 1 expression. Physiological Reports. 2020. doi: 10.14814/phy2.14416.

Nair VD, Ge YC, Li S, Pincas H, Jain N, Seenarine N, Amper MAS, **Goodpaster BH**, Walsh MJ, **Coen PM**, Sealfon SC. Sedentary and Trained Older Men Have Distinct Circulating Exosomal microRNA Profiles at Baseline and in Response to Acute Exercise. Frontiers in Physiology. 2020. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00605.

Courcoulas AP, Gallagher JW, Neiberg RH, Eagleton EB, **DeLany JP**, Lang W, Punchai S, Gourash W, Jakicic JM. Bariatric Surgery vs Lifestyle Intervention for Diabetes Treatment: 5-Year Outcomes From a Randomized Trial. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgaa006.

Ocvirk S, Wilson AS, Posma JM, Li JV, Koller KR, Day GM, Flanagan CA, Otto JE, Sacco PE, Sacco FD, Sapp FR, Wilson AS, Newton K, Brouard F, **DeLany JP**, Behnning M, Appolonia CN, Soni D, Bhatti F, Methe B, Fitch A, Morris A, Gaskins HR, Kinross J, Nicholson JK, Thomas TK, O'Keefe SJD. A prospective cohort analysis of gut microbial co-metabolism in Alaska Native and rural African people at high and low risk of colorectal cancer. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2020. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ ngz301.

Khoja SS, Patterson CG, **Goodpaster BH**, Delitto A, Piva SR. Skeletal muscle fat in individuals with rheumatoid arthritis compared to healthy adults. Experimental Gerontology. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2019.110768.

Leber A, Hontecillas R, Tubau-Juni N, Zoccoli-Rodriguez V, **Goodpaster BH**, Bassaganya-Riera J. Abscisic acid enriched fig extract promotes insulin sensitivity by decreasing systemic inflammation and activating LANCL2 in skeletal muscle. Scientific Reports. 2020. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-67300-2.

Williams KV, Shay CM, Price JC, **Goodpaster BH**, Kelley CA, Kelley DE, Orchard TJ. Muscle insulin resistance in type 1 diabetes with coronary artery disease. Diabetologia. 2020. doi: 10.1007/s00125-020-05270-w.

Amod A, Buse JB, McGuire DK, Pieber TR, Pop-Busui R, Pratley RE, Zinman B, Hansen MB, Jia T, Mark T, Poulter NR. Glomerular Filtration Rate and Associated Risks of Cardiovascular Events, Mortality, and Severe Hypoglycemia in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: Secondary Analysis (DEVOTE 11). Diabetes Therapy. 2020. doi: 10.1007/ s13300-019-00715-x

Mishra R, Åkerlund M, Cousminer DL, Ahlqvist E, Bradfield JP, Chesi A, Hodge KM, Guy VC, Brillon DJ, Pratley RE, Rickels MR, Vella A, Ovalle F, Harris RI, Melander O, Varvel S, Hakonarson H, Froquel P, Lonsdale JT, Mauricio D, Schloot NC, Khunti K, Greenbaum CJ, Yderstræde KB, Tuomi T, Voight BF, Schwartz S, Boehm BO, Groop L, Leslie RD, Grant SFA. Genetic Discrimination Between LADA and Childhood-Onset Type 1 Diabetes Within the MHC. Diabetes Care. 2020. doi: 10.2337/dc19-0986.

Marso SP, Baeres FMM, Bain SC, Goldman B, Husain M, Nauck MA, Poulter NR, Pratley RE, Thomsen AB, Buse JB. Effects of Liraglutide on Cardiovascular Outcomes in Patients With Diabetes With or Without Heart Failure. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.12.063.

Rickels MR, Evans-Molina C, Bahnson HT, Ylescupidez A, Nadeau KJ, Hao W, Clements MA, Sherr JL, Pratley RE, Hannon TS, Shah VN, Miller KM, Greenbaum CJ. High residual C-peptide likely contributes to glycemic control in type 1 diabetes. Journal of Clinical Investigation. 2020. doi: 10.1172/JCI134057.

Mizokami-Stout KR, Li Z, Foster NC, Shah V, Aleppo G, McGill JB, Pratley R, Toschi E, Ang L, Pop-Busui R. The Contemporary Prevalence of Diabetic Neuropathy in Type 1 Diabetes: Findings from the T1D Exchange. Diabetes Care. 2020. doi: 10.2337/dc19-1583

Heller S, Lingvay I, Marso SP, Philis-Tsimikas A, Pieber TR, Poulter NR, Pratley RE, Hachmann-Nielsen E, Kvist K, Lange M, Moses AC, Andresen MT, Buse JB. Risk of severe hypoglycaemia and its impact in type 2 diabetes in DEVOTE. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14049.

Shah VN, Bailey R, Wu M, Foster NC, Pop-Busui R, Katz M, Crandall J, Bacha F, Nadeau K, Libman I, Hiers P, Mizokami-Stout K, DiMeglio LA, Sherr J, Pratley R, Agarwal S, Snell-Bergeon J, Cengiz E, Polsky S, Mehta SN. Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) in Adults with Type 1 Diabetes: Findings from Prospective Real-life T1D Exchange Registry. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1210/ clinem/dgaa015

Chadha C, Pittas AG, Lary CW, Knowler WC, Chatterjee R, Phillips LS, Aroda VR, Lewis MR Pratley R Staten MA Nelson I Rasouli N Brodsky I Reproducibility of a prediabetes classification in a contemporary population. Metabolism Open. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.metop.2020.100031.

Buse JB, Bain SC, Mann JFE, Nauck MA, Nissen SE, Pocock S, Poulter NR, Pratley RE, Linder M, Monk Fries T, Ørsted DD, Zinman B. Cardiovascular Risk Reduction With Liraglutide: An Exploratory Mediation Analysis of the LEADER Trial. Diabetes Care. 2020. doi: 10.2337/dc19-2251.

Mosenzon O, Bain SC, Heerspink HJL, Idorn T, Mann JFE, Persson F, Pratley RE, Rasmussen S, Rossing P, von Scholten BJ, Raz I. Cardiovascular and renal outcomes by baseline albuminuria status and renal function - results from the LEADER randomized trial. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14126.

Verma S, Bain SC, Honoré JB, Mann JFE, Nauck MA, Pratley RE, Rasmussen S, Sejersten Ripa M, Zinman B, Buse JB. Impact of microvascular disease on cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes: Results from the LEADER and SUSTAIN 6 clinical trials. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14140.

Sinclair AJ, Heller SR, Pratley RE, Duan R, Heine RJ, Festa A, Kiljański J. Evaluating glucose-lowering treatment in older people with diabetes: Lessons from the IMPERIUM trial. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14013.

Verma S, McGuire DK, Bain SC, Bhatt DL, Leiter LA, Mazer CD, Monk Fries T, Pratley RE, Rasmussen S, Vrazic H, Zinman B, Buse JB. Effects of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists liraglutide and semaglutide on cardiovascular and renal outcomes across body mass index categories in type 2 diabetes: Results of the LEADER and SUSTAIN 6 trials. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14160

Kahkoska AR, Geybels MS, Klein KR, Kreiner FF, Marx N, Nauck MA, Pratley RE, Wolthers BO, Buse JB. Validation of distinct type 2 diabetes clusters and their association with diabetes complications in the DEVOTE, LEADER and SUSTAIN-6 cardiovascular outcomes trials. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/ dom.14063.

Leiter LA, Bain SC, Bhatt DL, Buse JB, Mazer CD, Pratley RE, Rasmussen S, Ripa MS, Vrazic H, Verma S. The effect of glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists liraglutide and semaglutide on cardiovascular and renal outcomes across baseline blood pressure categories: Analysis of the LEADER and SUSTAIN 6 trials. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14079.

Igudesman D, Crandell J, Zhong VW, Cristello Sarteau A, Kahkoska AR, Corbin K, Pratley R Kosorok MR Maahs DM Mayer-Davis FL Dietary intake on days with and without hypoglycemia in youth with type 1 diabetes: The Flexible Lifestyle Empowering Change trial. Pediatric Diabetes. 2020. doi: 10.1111/pedi.13132.

Heller S, Lingvay I, Marso SP, Philis-Tsimikas A, Pieber TR, Poulter NR, Pratley RE, Hachmann-Nielsen E, Kvist K, Lange M, Moses AC, Trock Andresen M, Buse JB. Development of a hypoglycaemia risk score to identify high-risk individuals with advanced type 2 diabetes in DEVOTE. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2020. doi: 10.1111/dom.14208

Munshi MN, Meneilly GS, Rodríguez-Mañas L, Close KL, Conlin PR, Cukierman-Yaffe T, Forbes A, Ganda OP, Kahn CR, Huang E, Laffel LM, Lee CG, Lee S, Nathan DM, Pandya N, Pratley R, Gabbay R, Sinclair AJ. Diabetes in ageing: pathways for developing the evidence base for clinical guidance. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinology. 2020. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30230-8.

Cosentino F, Cannon CP, Cherney DZI, Masiukiewicz U, **Pratley R**, Dagogo Jack S, Frederich R. Charbonnel B. Mancuso J. Shih W.J. Terra SG. Cater NB. Gantz I. McGuire DK. Efficacy of Ertugliflozin on Heart Failure-Related Events in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Established Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease: Results of the VERTIS CV Trial. Circulation. 2020. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.050255.

Amod A, Buse JB, McGuire DK, Pieber TR, Pop-Busui R, Pratley RE, Zinman B, Hansen MB, Jia T, Mark T, Poulter NR. Risk factors for kidney disorders in patients with type 2 diabetes at high cardiovascular risk: An exploratory analysis (DEVOTE 12). Diabetes & Vascular Disease Research. 2020. doi: 10.1177/1479164120970933.

Marlatt KL, Redman LM, Beyl RA, Smith SR, Champagne CM, Yi FC, Lovejoy JC. Racial differences in body composition and cardiometabolic risk during the menopause transition: a prospective, observational cohort study. America Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2019.09.051.

Garneau L, Parsons SA, Smith SR, Mulvihill EE, Sparks LM, Aguer C. Plasma Myokine Concentrations After Acute Exercise in Non-obese and Obese Sedentary Women. Frontiers in Physiology. 2020. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2020.00018.

Sanford JA, Nogiec CD, Lindholm ME, Adkins JN, Amar D, Dasari S, Drugan JK, Fernandez FM, Radom-Aizik S, Schenk S, Snyder MP, Tracy RP, Vanderboom P, Trappe S, Walsh MJ, Group Author: Mol Transducers Physical Activity (Mol Transducers Physical Activity) Molecular Transducers of Physical Activity Consortium (MoTrPAC): Mapping the Dynamic Responses to Exercise. Cell. 2020. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2020.06.004.

2021

Pratley RE, Crowley MJ, Gislum M, Hertz CL, Jensen TB, Khunti K, Mosenzon O, Buse JB. Oral Semaglutide Reduces HbA1c and Body Weight in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Regardless of Background Glucose-Lowering Medication: PIONEER Subgroup Analyses. Diabetes Therapy. 2021. doi: 10.1007/s13300-020-00994-9.

Pratley RE, Catarig AM, Lingvay I, Viljoen A, Paine A, Lawson J, Chubb B, Gorst-Rasmussen A. Miresashvili N. An indirect treatment comparison of the efficacy of semaglutide 1.0 mg versus dulaglutide 3.0 and 4.5 mg. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism, 2021, doi: 10.1111/dom.14497.

Sparks LM, Goodpaster BH, Bergman BC. The Metabolic Significance of Intermuscular Adipose Tissue: Is IMAT a Friend or a Foe to Metabolic Health? Diabetes. 2021. doi: 10.2337/dbi19-0006.

Thethi TK, Bilal A, Pratley RE. Cardiovascular Outcome Trials with Glucose-Lowering Drugs. Current Cardiology Report. 2021. doi: 10.1007/s11886-021-01505-3.

Thethi TK, Bilal A, Pratley RE. Cardiovascular Outcome of Incretin-Based Therapies. Diabetes Spectrum 2021 doi:10.2337/ds20-0072

Nunez Lopez YO, Casu A, Pratley RE. Investigation of Extracellular Vesicles From SARS-CoV-2 Infected Specimens: A Safety Perspective. Frontiers in Immunology. 2021. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.617042.

Whytock KL, Corbin KD, Parsons SA, Pachori A, Bock CP, Jones KP, Smith JS, Yi F, Xie H, Petucci CJ, Gardell SJ, Smith SR. Metabolic adaptation characterizes short-term resistance to weight loss induced by a low-calorie diet in overweight/obese individuals. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2021. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/ngab027.

Pinkerton AB, Sessions EH, Hershberger P, Maloney PR, Peddibhotla S, Hopf M, Sergienko E, Ma CT, Smith LH, Jackson MR, Tanaka J, Tsuji T, Akiu M, Cohen SE, Nakamura T. Gardell SJ. Optimization of a urea-containing series of nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase (NAMPT) activators. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2021.128007.

Espeland MA, **Pratley RE**, Rosenstock J, Kadowaki T, Seino Y, Zinman B, Marx N, McGuire DK, Andersen KR, Mattheus M, Keller A, Weber M, Johansen OE. Cardiovascular outcomes and safety with linagliptin, a dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitor, compared with the sulphonylurea glimepiride in older people with type 2 diabetes: A subgroup analysis of the randomized CAROLINA trial. Diabetes Obes Metab. 2021. doi: 10.1111/dom.14254.

Dagogo-Jack S, Pratley RE, Cherney DZI, McGuire DK, Cosentino F, Shih WJ, Liu J, Frederich R Mancuso, IP Raji A Gantz L Glycemic efficacy and safety of the SGLT2 inhibitor ertualiflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes and stage 3 chronic kidney disease: an analysis from the VERTIS CV randomized trial. BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care. 2021. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2021-002484

Eric Ravussin, **Smith SR**, Anthony W Ferrante Jr. Physiology of Energy Expenditure in the Weight-Reduced State. Obesity. 2021. doi: 10.1002/oby.23095.

Vendrame F, Calhoun P, Bocchino LE, Pratley RE, Casu A. Impact of bariatric surgery and weight loss medications in adults with type 1 diabetes in the T1D Exchange Clinic Registry. Journal of Diabetes and its Complications. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j. jdiacomp.2021.107884.

Brennan AM, Standley, RA, Anthony SJ, Grench KE, Helbling NL, **DeLany JP**, Cornnell HH, Yi FC, Stefanovic-Racic M, Toledo FGS, Coen PM, Carnero EA, Goodpaster BH. Weight Loss and Exercise Differentially Affect Insulin Sensitivity, Body Composition, Cardiorespiratory Fitness, and Muscle Strength in Older Adults With Obesity: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2021. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glab240.

Buse JB, Holst I, Knop FK, Kvist K, Thielke D, Pratley RE. Prototype of an evidencebased tool to aid individualized treatment for type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2021. doi: 10.1111/dom.14381.

Lingvay I, Bauer R, Baker-Knight J, Lawson J, Pratley RE. An indirect treatment comparison of semaglutide 2.0 mg versus dulaglutide 3.0 mg and 4.5 mg using multilevel network meta-regression. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2021. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab905.

Carlson AL, Kanapka LG, Miller KM, Ahmann AJ, Chaytor NS, Fox S, Kiblinger L, Kruger D, Levy CJ, Peters AL, Rickels MR, Salam M, Shah VN, Young LA, Kudva YC, Pratley R. Hypoglycemia and Glycemic Control in Older Adults With Type 1 Diabetes: Baseline Results From the WISDM Study. Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology. 2021. doi: 10.1177/1932296819894974.

Vega RB, Whytock KL, Gassenhuber J, Goebel B, Tillner J, Agueusop I, Truax AD, Yu GX, Carnero E, Kapoor N, Gardell S, Sparks LM, Smith SR. A Metabolomic Signature of Glucagon Action in Healthy Individuals With Overweight/Obesity. Journal of the Endocrine Society. 2021. doi: 10.1210/jendso/bvab118.

Adeline Divoux, Alexey Eroshkin, Edina Erdos, Katalin Sandor, Timothy F Osborne, Smith SR. DNA Methylation as a Marker of Body Shape in Premenopausal Women. Frontiers in Genetics. 2021. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2021.709342.

Saxena AR, Banerjee A, Corbin KD, Parsons SA, Smith SR. Energy intake as a short-term biomarker for weight loss in adults with obesity receiving liraglutide: A randomized trial. Obes Sci Pract. 2021. doi: 10.1002/osp4.486.

Carnero EA, Bock CP, Distefano G, Corbin KD, Stephens NA, Pratley RE, Smith SR, Goodpaster BH, Sparks LM. Twenty-four hour assessments of substrate oxidation reveal differences in metabolic flexibility in type 2 diabetes that are improved with aerobic training. Diabetologia. 2021. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05535-y.

Whytock KL, Carnero EA, Vega RB, Tillner J, Bock C, Chivukula K, Yi FC, Meyer C. Smith SR. Sparks LM. Prolonged Glucagon Infusion Does Not Affect Energy Expenditure in Individuals with Overweight/Obesity: A Randomized Trial. Obesity. 2021. doi: 10.1002/oby.23141.

Fornasier M, Porcheddu A, Casu A, Raghavan SR, Jonsson P, Schillen K, Murgia S. Surface-modified nanoerythrosomes for potential optical imaging diagnostics. Journal of Colloid and Interface Science. 2021. Doi: 10.1016/j.jcis.2020.08.032.

Malespin MH, Barritt ASt, Watkins SE, Schoen C, Tincopa MA, Corbin KD, Mospan AR, Munoz B, Trinh HN, Weiss LM, Reddy KR, Loomba R, Kemmer N, Lok AS. Weight Loss and Weight Regain in Usual Clinical Practice: Results From the TARGET-NASH Observational Cohort. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j. cah.2021.01.023.

Marcus A, Davis TL, Rittmann BE, DiBaise JK, Carnero EA, Corbin KD, Smith SR, Krajmalnik-Brown R. Developing a model for estimating the activity of colonic microbes after intestinal surgeries. PLoS One. 2021. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0253542.

Allerton TD, Carnero EA, Bock C, Corbin KD, Luyet PP, Smith SR, Ravussin E. Reliability of measurements of energy expenditure and substrate oxidation using whole-room indirect calorimetry. Obesity (Silver Spring, Md). 2021. doi: 10.1002/ obv.23226.

Akiu M, Tsuji T, Sogawa Y, Terayama K, Yokoyama M, Tanaka J, Asano D, Sakurai K, Sergienko E, Sessions EH, Gardell SJ, Pinkerton AB, Nakamura T. Discovery of 1-[2-(1-methyl-1H-pyrazol-5-yl)-[1,2,4]triazolo[1,5-a] pyridin-6-yl]-3-(pyridin-4-ylmethyl) urea as a potent NAMPT (nicotinamide phosphoribosyltransferase) activator with attenuated CYP inhibition. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2021.128048.

Heymsfield SB, Coleman LA, Miller R, Rooks DS, Laurent D, Petricoul O, Praestgaard J, Swan T, Wade T, Perry RG, Goodpaster BH, Roubenoff R. Effect of Bimagrumab vs Placebo on Body Fat Mass Among Adults With Type 2 Diabetes and Obesity: A Phase 2 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Network Open. 2021. doi: 10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2020.33457.

Farsijani S, Santanasto AJ, Miljkovic I, Boudreau RM, Goodpaster BH, Kritchevsky SB, Newman AB. The Relationship Between Intermuscular Fat and Physical Performance Is Moderated by Muscle Area in Older Adults. Journals of Gerontology Series A-Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences. 2021. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa161.

Pandey A, Shah SJJ, Butler J, Kellogg DL, Lewis GD, Forman DE, Mentz RJ, Borlaug BA, Simon MA, Chirinos JA, Fielding RA, Volpi E, Molina AJA, Haykowsky MJ, Sam F, Goodpaster BH, Bertoni AG, Justice JN, White JP, Ding JZ, Hummel SL, LeBrasseur NK, Taffet GE, Pipinos II, Kitzman D. Exercise Intolerance in Older Adults With Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.07.014.

McGuire DK, Shih WJ, Cosentino F, Charbonnel B, Cherney DZI, Dagogo-Jack S, Pratley R, Greenberg M, Wang S, Huyck S, Gantz I, Terra SG, Masiukiewicz U, Cannon CP. Association of SGLT2 Inhibitors With Cardiovascular and Kidney Outcomes in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Cardiology. 2021. doi: 10.1001/ jamacardio.2020.4511.

Gerstein HC, Branch K, Heenan L, Del Prato S, Khurmi NS, Lam CSP, Pratley R, Rosenstock J. Sattar N. Design and baseline characteristics of the AMPLITUDE-O cardiovascular outcomes trial of efpeglenatide, a weekly glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonist. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2021. doi: 10.1111/dom.14223.

Pinckard KM, Shettigar VK, Wright KR, Abay E, Baer LA, Vidal P, Dewal RS, Das D, Duarte-Sanmiguel S, Hernández-Saavedra D, Arts PJ, Lehnig AC, Bussberg V, Narain NR, Kiebish MA, Yi F, Sparks LM, Goodpaster BH, Smith SR, Pratley RE, Lewandowski ED, Raman SV, Wold LE, Gallego-Perez D, Coen PM, Ziolo MT, Stanford KI. A Novel Endocrine Role the BAT-Released Lipokine 12,13-diHOME to Mediate Cardiac Function. Circulation. 2021. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.049813.

Cherney DZI, McGuire DK, Charbonnel B, Cosentino F, **Pratley R**, Dagogo-Jack S, Frederich R, Maldonado M, Liu J, Pong A, Liu CC, Cannon CP. Gradient of Risk and Associations with Cardiovascular Efficacy of Ertugliflozin by Measures of Kidney Function: Observations from VERTIS CV. Circulation. 2021. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.120.051901.

Oliveira E, Parikh A, Lopez-Ruiz A, Carrilo M, Goldberg J, Cearras M, Fernainy K, Andersen S, Mercado L, Guan J, Zafar H, Louzon P, Carr A, Baloch N, Pratlev R. Silverstry S, Hsu V, Sniffen J, Herrera V, Finkler N. ICU outcomes and survival in patients with severe COVID-19 in the largest health care system in central Florida. PLoS One. 2021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249038.

Serrano J, Smith KR, Crouch AL, Sharma V, Yi F, Vargova V, LaMoia TE, Dupont LM, Serna V, Tang F, Gomes-Dias L, Blakeslee JJ, Hatzakis E, Peterson SN, Anderson M, Pratley RE, Kyriazis GA. High-dose saccharin supplementation does not induce gut microbiota changes or glucose intolerance in healthy humans and mice. Microbiome. 2021. doi: 10.1186/s40168-020-00976-w.

Persson F, Bain SC, Mosenzon O, Heerspink HJL, Mann JFE, Pratley R, Raz I, Idorn T. Rasmussen S. von Scholten BJ. Rossing P. Changes in Albuminuria Predict Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes in Type 2 Diabetes: A Post Hoc Analysis of the LEADER Trial. Diabetes Care. 2021. doi: 10.2337/dc20-1622.

Cherney DZI, Charbonnel B, Cosentino F, Dagogo-Jack S, McGuire DK, Pratley R, Shih WJ, Frederich R, Maldonado M, Pong A, Cannon CP. Effects of ertugliflozin on kidney composite outcomes renal function and albuminuria in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: an analysis from the randomised VERTIS CV trial. Diabetologia. 2021. doi: 10.1007/s00125-021-05407-5.

Mann JFE, Buse JB, Idorn T, Leiter LA, Pratley RE, Rasmussen S, Vilsbøll T, Wolthers B, Perkovic V. Potential kidney protection with liraglutide and semaglutide: Exploratory mediation analysis. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2021. doi: 10.1111/dom.14443.

Cherney DZI, Dagogo-Jack S, McGuire DK, Cosentino F, Pratley R, Shih WJ, Frederich R. Maldonado M. Liu J. Wang S. Cannon CP. Kidnev outcomes using a sustained $\geq 40\%$ decline in eGFR: A meta-analysis of SGLT2 inhibitor trials. Clinical Cardiology. 2021. doi: 10.1002/clc.23665.

Gerstein HC, Sattar N, Rosenstock J, Ramasundarahettige C, **Pratley R**, Lopes RD, Lam CSP, Khurmi NS, Heenan L, Del Prato S, Dyal L, Branch K. Cardiovascular and Renal Outcomes with Efpeglenatide in Type 2 Diabetes. New England Journal of Medicine. 2021. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2108269.

Kim SH, Brodsky IG, Chatterjee R, Kashyap SR, Knowler WC, Liao E, Nelson J, **Pratley R**, Rasouli N, Vickery EM, Sarnak M, Pittas AG. Effect of Vitamin D Supplementation on Kidney Function in Adults with Prediabetes: A Secondary Analysis of a Randomized Trial. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2021. doi: 10.2215/ CJN.00420121.

Cherney DZI, Cosentino F, Dagogo-Jack S, McGuire DK, **Pratley R**, Frederich R, Maldonado M, Liu CC, Liu J, Pong A, Cannon CP. Ertugliflozin and Slope of Chronic eGFR: Prespecified Analyses from the Randomized VERTIS CV Trial. Clinical Journal of the American Society of Nephrology. 2021. doi: 10.2215/CJN.01130121.

Serrano J, Seflova J, Park J, Pribadi M, Sanematsu K, Shigemura N, Serna V, Yi F, Mari A, Procko E, **Pratley RE**, Robia SL, **Kyriazis GA**. The Ile191Val is a partial loss-of-function variant of the TAS1R2 sweet-taste receptor and is associated with reduced glucose excursions in humans. Molecular Metabolism. 2021. doi: 10.1016/j. molmet.2021.101339.

Sattar N, Lee MMY, Kristensen SL, Branch KRH, Del Prato S, Khurmi NS, Lam CSP, Lopes RD, McMurray JJV, **Pratley RE**, Rosenstock J, Gerstein HC. Cardiovascular, mortality, and kidney outcomes with GLP-1 receptor agonists in patients with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology. 2021. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587/21)00203-5.

Lam CSP, Ramasundarahettige C, Branch KRH, Sattar N, Rosenstock J, **Pratley R**, Del Prato S, Lopes RD, Niemoeller E, Khurmi NS, Baek S, Gerstein HC. Efpeglenatide and Clinical Outcomes with and without Concomitant Sodium-Glucose Co-Transporter-2 Inhibition Use in Type 2 Diabetes: Exploratory Analysis of the AMPLITUDE-O Trial. Circulation. 2021. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.121.057934.

Klein KR, Franek E, Marso S, Pieber TR, **Pratley RE**, Gowda A, Kvist K, Buse JB. Hemoglobin glycation index, calculated from a single fasting glucose value, as a prediction tool for severe hypoglycemia and major adverse cardiovascular events in DEVOTE. BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care. 2021. doi: 10.1136/ bmjdrc-2021-002339.

Davis TL, Dirks B, Carnero EA, **Corbin KD**, Krakoff J, Parrington S, Lee D, **Smith SR**, Rittmann BE, Krajmalnik-Brown R, Marcus AK. Chemical Oxygen Demand Can Be Converted to Gross Energy for Food Items Using a Linear Regression Model. Journal of Nutrition. 2021. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxaa321.

Visniauskas B, Arita DY, Rosales CB, Feroz MA, Luffman C, Accavitti MJ, Dawkins G, Hong J, Curnow AC, **Thethi TK**, Lefante JJ, Jaimes EA, Mauvais-Jarvis F, Fonseca VA, Prieto MC. Sex differences in soluble prorenin receptor in patients with type 2 diabetes. Biology of Sex Differences. 2021. doi: 10.1186/s13293-021-00374-3.

January - March 2022

Gardell JS, Coen PM. NAD+ and human muscle health. Nature Aging. 2022. doi: 10.1038/S43587-022-00192-1.

Pratley RE, Jacob S, Baek S, Trautmann ME, Hompesch M, Han O, Stewart J, Sorli CH, Shaunik A, Yoon KH. Efficacy and safety of efpeglenatide in key patient subgroups from the BALANCE randomized trial, stratified by pre-diabetes status, BMI, and age at baseline. BMJ Open Diabetes Research & Care. 2022. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2021-002207.

Pratley RE, Gorst-Rasmussen A. Indirect treatment comparisons: Choosing the right tool for the job. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2022. doi: 10.1111/dom.14664.

Pratley RE, Casu A. Can technology improve the management of older adults with type 1 diabetes? Yes, but... Comment. Lancet Healthy Longevity. 2022.

Kaleen M. Lavin, **Coen PM**, Liliana C. Baptista, Margaret B. Bell, Devin Drummer, Sara A. Harper, Manoel E. Lixandrão, Jeremy S. McAdam, Samia M. O'Bryan, Sofhia Ramos, Lisa M. Roberts, Rick B. Vega, **Goodpaster BH**, Marcas M. Bamman, Thomas W. Buford. State of Knowledge on Molecular Adaptations to Exercise in Humans: Historical Perspectives and Future Directions. Comprehensive Physiology. 2022. doi: 10.1002/CPHY.C200033.

Lovre D, **Thethi TK**. Natural Course (Stages/Evidence Based Discussion). In Diabetes and Kidney Disease. In: Lerma E.V., Batuman V. (eds) Diabetes and Kidney Disease. Springer. 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86020-2_4.

Aliza B Rubenstein, J Matthew Hinkley, Venugopalan D Nair, German Nudelman, Robert A Standley, Fanchao Yi, GongXin Yu, Todd A Trappe, Marcas M Bamman, Scott W Trappe, Lauren M Sparks, Bret H Goodpaster, Rick B Vega, Stuart C Sealfon, Elena Zaslavsky, Coen PM. Skeletal muscle transcriptome response to a bout of endurance exercise in physically active and sedentary older adults. American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism. 2022. doi: 10.1152/ AJPENDO.00378.2021.

Dagogo-Jack S, Cannon CP, Cherney DZI, Cosentino F, Liu J, Pong A, Gantz I, Frederich R, Mancuso JP, **Pratley RE**. Cardiorenal outcomes with ertugliflozin assessed according to baseline glucose-lowering agent: An analysis from VERTIS CV. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2022. doi: 10.1111/dom.14691.

Johnson KC, Pittas AG, Margolis KL, Peters AL, Phillips LS, Vickery EM, Nelson J, Sheehan PR, Reboussin D, Malozowski S, Chatterjee R, **D2d Research Group**. Safety and tolerability of high-dose daily vitamin D3 supplementation in the vitamin D and type 2 diabetes (D2d) study-a randomized trial in persons with prediabetes. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition. 2022. doi: 10.1038/s41430-022-01068-8.

Sadoff J, Gray G, Vandebosch A, Cárdenas V, Shukarev G, Grinsztejn B, Goepfert PA, Truyers C, Van Dromme I, Spiessens B, Vingerhoets J, Custers J, Scheper G, Robb ML, Treanor J, Ryser MF, Barouch DH, Swann E, Marovich MA, Neuzil KM, Corey L, Stoddard J, Hardt K, Ruiz-Guiñazú J, Le Gars M, Schuitemaker H, Van Hoof J, Struyf F, Douoguih M, **ENSEMBLE Study Group**. Final Analysis of Efficacy and Safety of Single-Dose Ad26.COV2.S. New England Journal of Medicine. 2022. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMoa2117608.

Miceli V, Fornasier M, Bulati M, Amico G, Conaldi PG, **Casu A**, Murgia S. In Vitro Evaluation of Nanoerythrosome Cytotoxicity and Uptake in Pancreatic Endothelial Cells: Implications for β -Cell Imaging Applications. Langmuir. 2022. doi.org/10.1021/ acs.langmuir.1c03153.

LaMonica LC, McGarvey ST, Rivara AC, Sweetman CA, Naseri T, Reupena MS, Kadiamada H, Kocher E, Rojas-Carroll A, **DeLany JP**, Hawley NL. Cascades of diabetes and hypertension care in Samoa: Identifying gaps in the diagnosis, treatment, and control continuum - a cross-sectional study. Lancet Regional Health-Western Pacific. 2022. doi: 10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100313.

Chow LS, Gerszten RE, Taylor JM, Pedersen BK, Van Praag H, Trappe S, Febbraio MA, Galis ZS, Goo YL, Haus JM, Lanza IR, Lavie CJ, Lee CH, Lucia A, Moro C, Pandey A, Robbins JM, Stanford KI, Thackray AE, Villeda S, Watt MJ, Xia A, Zierath JR, **Goodpaster BH**, Snyder MP. Exerkines in health, resilience and disease. Nature Reviews Endocrinology. 2022. doi: 10.1038/s41574-022-00641-2.

Cherney DZI, Cosentino F, **Pratley RE**, Dagogo-Jack S, Frederich R, Maldonado M, Liu J, Pong A, Liu CC, Cannon CP. The differential effects of ertugliflozin on glucosuria and natriuresis biomarkers: Prespecified analyses from VERTIS CV. Diabetes Obesity & Metabolism. 2022. doi: 10.1111/dom.14677.

Rasouli N, Brodsky IG, Chatterjee R, Kim SH, **Pratley RE**, Staten MA, Pittas AG; **D2d Research Group.** Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation on Insulin Sensitivity and Secretion in Prediabetes. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism. 2022. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab649.

Spadaro O, Youm Y, Shchukina I, Ryu S, Sidorov S, Ravussin A, Nguyen K, Aladyeva E, Predeus AN, **Smith SR**, Ravussin E, Galban C, Artyomov MN, Dixit VD. Caloric restriction in humans reveals immunometabolic regulators of health span. SCIENCE. 2022. doi: 10.1126/science.abg7292.

Brøns C, Baun Thuesen AC, Elingaard-Larsen LO, Justesen L, Jensen RT, Henriksen NS, Juel HB, Størling J, Ried-Larsen M, **Sparks LM**, van Hall G, Danielsen ER, Hansen T, Vaag A. Increased liver fat associates with severe metabolic perturbations in low birth weight men. European Journal of Endocrinology. 2022. doi: 10.1530/EJE-21-1221.

AdventHealth Foundation Impact

•

A special thanks to our AdventHealth Foundation donors:

Dr. Juan Arnoletti and Dr. Analia Castiglioni Axium Healthcare Pharmacy, Inc. The Dale E. and Cheryl Bartch Charitable Foundation, Inc. Andrew and Jayne Bassler BB&T Carl E. Berg Albert and Mary Bergeron Joseph and Karen Bierer Birdies for Breast Cancer, Inc. Eric and Heather Boughman Diana J. Boyce Brasfield & Gorrie, LLC Robert and Helen Cairns CALIC Group Coach Rob's Benefit Bash. Inc. David and Gena Collis Comprehensive Energy Services, Inc. David Cox and Cynthia Woodley Creo Medical Limited CureSearch for Children's Cancer Cushman & Wakefield of Florida, Inc. Mark and Kelly Daniel William C. Demetree, Jr. Foundation, Inc. Wayne Densch Charities, Inc. Privada Wealth Management Athina C. Dever Duke University Dr. George D. Everett and Ms. Anna Lillios The FINFROCK Family of Companies Stephen and Judith Flanagan Florida Blue Foundation Florida State Auxiliary, Inc. Fraternal Order of Eagles Fraternal Order of Eagles Aerie #3496 Fraternal Order of Eagles Aerie #10012 Fraternal Order of Eagles, Grand Aerie Ed and Connie Gilbert **Beverly Greear-Philips** Dr. and Mrs. Ben and Margaret Guedes

In Remembrance Lenore Rhoda Johnson 1975-2019

on Impact

Hedco Foundation Dr. and Mrs. Edwin I. Hernandez

Anonymous

iHeartMedia

Foundation

Foundation

Inc.)

JHT. Inc.

Leslie Holloway Dr. and Mrs. Robert W. Holloway

Dr. and Mrs. J. Daniel Jones, III Dr. and Mrs. Yasser A. Khaled Kids Beating Cancer, Inc. Michael and Christine Kirchner Charles and Dianne Kulp Robert and Julie Mandell Diane Meiller and Associates, Inc. Jason and Ronni Mendelsohn Elinor & T.W. Miller, Jr. Foundation, Inc. Larry and Mary Miller Dr. and Mrs. John R. T. Monson Mark and Cheryl Montgomery Moran Kidd Lyons Johnson & Berkson, PA Thomas P. and Jeanne L. Moran

Todd and Shelley Morgan, Sr. MPBP (Mothers of Prof'l Basketball Players,

NuSI Nutrition Science Initiative John and Wendy O'Donnell Orosz Family Foundation Rose Parapiglia David and Cynthia Parker Angelina Perdomo PGA Tour. Inc.

Phi Beta Psi Sorority Dr. and Mrs. Richard E. Pratley Benjamin E. and Mary L. Ramsey Robins & Morton Group Roy Family Fund of The Greater Cincinnati

RVR Consulting Group Dr. Mohtashem and Dr. Raheleh Samsam

Sanford Burnham Prebvs Medical **Discovery Institute** Dr. George R. Simon Thomas and Jayne Sittema Skinnerstrong Foundation, Inc. Dr. Steven R. Smith Sid and Sandra Strickland Jeffrey and Alicia Sweeney Fred and Dona Tannler Bryan Thomas and Marjorie Bakaert Thomas **Tides Foundation** Steve and Arlene Vickers H. J. "Butch" and Karen von Weller and their Family Melissa Vosburg, Inc. Jeff and Susan Vosburg Walgreens John and Constance Warren Garry and Christine Welsh Liz Whitney Tippett Foundation Inc. Women's & Girls' Cancer Alliance Karen L. Wrenn





Acknowledgments

Executive Sponsors: Steven R. Smith, MD & Bret Goodpaster, PhD Project Owner & Editor: Lynn Penyak Project Manager: Magdalini Finelli Lead Writer: Stephanie Adair Committee: Rob Herzog, Valerie Landrio McDevitt, JD, Richard Pratley, MD Data: Nancy Aldrich, Magdalini Finelli, Rossitza Kassabova, Ebuka Ojika, Erika Puleo, Nicole Ruiz, Janice Turchin, April Turley



301 East Princeton Street | Orlando, Florida 32804 407-303-7100 | AdventHealthResearchInstitute.com